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To the City Council of the 
City of Caribou, Maine 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

Report on the Financial Statements 

P.O. BOX 906 

CARIBOU, MAINE 04736 

(207) 498-3176 

FAX !207) 498·6278 

E·MAIL: CPA@FELCHCPA, COM 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental 
activities, the business-type activity, each major fund, and the aggregate 
remaining fund information of the City of Caribou, Maine as of and for the year 
ended December 31, 2012, and the related notes to the financial statements, which 
collectively comprise the basic financial statements of the City's primary 
government as l isted in the table of contents . 

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these 
financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States of America ; this includes the design, i mplementation, and 
maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparat ion and fair presentation 
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error . 

Auditors ' Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on 
our audit. We conducted our audit in accor dance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial 
audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller 
General of the United States . Those standards require that we plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are 
free from material misstatement . 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audi t evidence about the amounts 
and disclosures in the financial statements . The procedur es selected depend on the 
auditors' judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement 
of the financial statements , whether due to fraud or error . In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances , but not for the purpose 
o f expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity' s internal control . 
Accordingly, we express no such opinion . An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements . 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our audit opinions . 



To the City Council of the 
City of Caribou, Maine 

Basis for Qua1if ied Opinion 

The financial statements referred to above include only the primary government of 
the City of Caribou, Maine , which consists of a l l funds, or ganizations , 
institutions, agencies, departments , and offices that comprise the Cit y ' s legal 
entity . The financial statements do not include the financial data for the City's 
legally separate component units of Cary Medical Center and Caribou Utilities 
District . Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America 
require financial data fo r the City ' s legally separate component units to be 
reported with the financial data of the City's primary gove rnment . The amount by 
which this departure would affect the assets, liabilities, net positi on, revenues, 
and expenses of the government- wide financial statements has not been determined . 

Qualified Opinion 

In our op inion, except for the possible effects of the matter discussed in the 
"Basis for Qualified Opinion" paragraph, the financial statements referred to above 
present fairly, in all material respects , the financial position of the City of 
Caribou, Maine as of December 31 , 20 12, and the changes in financial position 
thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America. 

Unmodified Opinions 

In our opinion , the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all 
material respects , the financial position of the governmental activities , the 
business- type activity, each major fund , and the aggregate remaining fund 
information of the City of Caribou, Maine , as of December 31 , 2012, and the 
respective changes in financial posit i on, and where applicable , cash flows thereof 
for the year then ended in accordance with account ing principles generally accept ed 
in the United States of America . 

Other Matters 

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require 
that the management 's discussion and analysis and budgetary information on Pages I 
through XV and Supplements 1 and 2 , be presented to supplement the basic financial 
statements . Such information, although not a part of the basic financial 
statements , is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who 
considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic 
financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical 
context . We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary 
information in accordance wit h auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America , which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of 
preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with 
management's responses to our inquiries , the basic fi nancial statements, and other 
knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements . We do 
not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the 
limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion 
or provide any assurance . 



To the City Council of the 
City of Caribou , Maine 

Other Information 

Our audit was conduct ed for the purpose of forming opinions on the f inancial state­
ments t hat collectively comprise t h e City o f Caribou ' s bas i c financial statement s . 
The supplementary schedules are presented for purposes of additional analysis and 
are not a required part of t he basic financi a l s t atements . The accompanying 
schedule of expenditures of fede r a l awards is p r esented for pur poses of additional 
analysis as required by U. S . Office of Management and Budget Circular A-133 , Audits 
of States, Local Governments , and Non - Profit Organ i zations , and is also not a 
required par t of the basic financi a l statements . 

The supplementar y schedules and the schedule of expendi tures of federal awar ds are 
the responsibility of management and were deriv e d from and r elate directly to the 
underlyi ng accounting and other records used t o prepare the basic f i nanci al 
statements . Such information has been subjected to t he auditing procedures applied 
in the audit of the basic financial stat ements themselves , and certain additional 
procedures , in accordance with auditing s t anda rds general ly accepted in the United 
States of America. In our opinion, the information is f airly stated in a l l 
mat e ria l respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole . 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards , we have also issued our report 
dated July 23 , 2013 on our consideration of the City of Caribou's inte r nal control 
over financial reporting and on our tests o f its compl iance with certain provisions 
o f laws, regul at i ons , contract s and grants and other matters . The pur pose of that 
report is to descr ibe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial 
reporti ng and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an 
opinion on the internal control over financial report ing or on compliance . That 
report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government 
Auditing Standards i n considering City of Caribou' s internal control over financial 
report ing and compl i ance. 

Caribou, Maine 
J u l y 23, 2013 



City of Caribou, Maine 

Management's Discussion and Ana l ys i s 
For the Year Ended Decembe r 31, 2012 

UNAUDITED 

The f o l lowing narrative is an overview and discussion of t he financial act ivities 
of the City of Caribou fo r the financial year ending December 31, 2012. 
Management's discussion and analysis should be viewed as a tool to aid the reader 
in understanding of t he Ci ty's financia l performance along with an enhanced insight 
to the a t tached financi a l statements and notes to t h e financials . 

Financial highlights: 

~ The City of Caribou , Maine adheres to the standards of GASB 34 , Basic 
Financial Statements - a nd Management' s Di scussion and Analysis - fo r State 
and Local Governments . Under these standards management has prepared 
statements of comparison indicating the relative changes within the City ' s 
organizational and financial structures . Much of the detail as well as the 
summar y presented withi n this text can be fou nd in Exhibit D that highlights 
the end results of operations for the City in 2012 . 

~ The Financial Administrators of the City have implemented a modified approach 
towards valuing its infrastructure . This approach includes the establishment 
of condition statements f o r much o f the City ' s infrastructure and a plan of 
capita l act i ons to maintain and improve assets in accordance with prudent 
financial practices . 

~ The City has also implemented infrastructure management and measurement tools 
as a result of these standards . The City has implemented and integrated a 
full depreciation basis of all capital infrastructures in a further effort to 
measure the ability of appropriately maintaining t he exi st i ng i nfrast ructure 
as well as accounting fo r future needs . 

The Financial Statements 

The d i scussion and analysis is intended to provide an i n t roduction to the City's 
basic financial s t a t ement s, which are comprised of three major components : 
1) City- Wide Financi al Statements , 2) Fund Financial Statements, and 3) Notes to 
the Fin anc i a l Statements. Supplementary information to the basic financial 
statement is also provided t o fulfill mandatory r equirement s and clarification to 
the base report. 

The City-wide reports are designed to show the City as a sum of its significant 
fund activities . The Statement of Net Posit i on and Statement of Activities provide 
information about the government - type and business-type activities of the whole 
City, presenting both as an aggregate view of City department finances and a 
longer- term view of those finances . 

Fund financial statements provide the next level o f deta i l . For governmental 
funds, these statements tell how se r vices were financed in the short - term as well 
as what remains for future s pending . The fund financial statements also look at 
the City's most significant funds with all other non-major funds p r esented in total 
in one column . For t he City of Caribou , the General Fund is the most significant 
fund . 

I 



City of Caribou, Maine 

Management ' s Discussion and Analysis 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2012 

UNAUDITED 

City-Wide Financial Statements 

Th e Ci ty-wide financial statements present the financial p i cture of the Ci ty from 
the economic r esources measur ement focus us i ng t h e accrual bas i s of accounting , 
similar in manne r to private sector accounting s t a t ements . The statements present 
governmental activities and enterprise type activities separately . The ent erprise 
activities are those services provided by the government a l unit that are lar gely 
supported by fees cha r ged for the servi ce or revenues gener ated by the performance 
of such act ivity . These statements also include a l l assets of the City (including 
i n fras t ruct ure) as well as t he l iabilities wit h certa i n interfund act i v i tie s 
eliminated . 

The Statement of Net Position p r ese nts information on t he City ' s assets and 
liabi l ities , wit h the difference between t he two reported as net position . These 
statements are used as t ools to assess the trends in t he City' s overall financi al 
health allowing the reader an indication o f i mproving or deteriorat ing financi al 
resources . The capital asset s r eported under the non- current assets are based upon 
histori cal values less the total amount of depr eci ation accumulated to date . The 
City has implemented the modified appr oach for infrastructure assets allowi ng this 
statement to yield a more reflective position o f t h e actual maintenance of the 
Ci ty' s capital assets . 

The Statement of Activities presents information demons t r at i ng how the City' s net 
position changed during the last cal endar year on a department - by- department basis . 
All changes in net position are reported as soon as the activ i ty occurs, regardless 
of the t iming of the related cash f l ow relevant to the event . Therefore, revenues 
and e xpenses are reported in this statement f o r s ome items that will only result in 
a change i n cash in future fisca l periods . 

Bot h of t hese stat ements within the City-wide financials d i st i nguish between 
governmental - type funct i ons, princi pall y supported by t a xes , and i nter gove r nmental 
revenues for the City . These activities are separated from those enterprise 
activities or business-type activities whose functions and activities are primarily 
supp o r ted by user fees and charges generated f r om performing t h e rel ated act i v i ties 
wi thin the City . Governmental Activities for Caribou are defined as gener al 
government , community devel opment, heal th and sanitat i on , public works , protection, 
insur a nce and reti r ement, recreation , library, County t ax , general assistance, 
education (School) , Chamber of Commerce , Section 8 housing, capital projects and 
other activities . The enter p r ise act i vity, o r bus i ness- type activity , is the 
ambulance operations . 

Fund Financial Statements 

The fund financial statements are a grouping o f rel a t ed accounts that are used to 
maintain control over the resources that have been segregated through the budgetary 
p r ocess for specific activities or objectives. The City of Caribou utilizes fund 
accounting p r actices to ensure compliance with finance - related legal requi rements 
as we l l as performance measures to monitor acti v i ty t hroughout the year . All of 
the funds o f the City can be d i v i ded into three categories : governmental funds , 
proprietary fund and fiduciary funds . 

II 



Ci ty of Caribou, Maine 

Management' s Discuss i on and Analysis 
For the Year Ended Decembe r 31 , 2012 

UNAUDITED 

Governmenta l funds are synonymous with t he activit i es r eported as governmental 
activities under the City- wi de financial statements . The governmental funds define 
how money flows i nto and out o f t h ose funds and t he balances left at year-end that 
are fu r t her availabl e . These funds use modified accr ual account i ng to measure the 
cash a nd a l l other f i nanci al assets that can be readily con verted to cash . The 
governmental f und statement s p r ovide a detailed shorter- term vie w of the Ci ty ' s 
general gover nme nt operations and the basic ser vice s they provide . Government a l 
fund informat i on aids in determining whether the r e are more or fewer financial 
resour ces that can be spen t in the near f uture to finance the City ' s p r ogr ams and 
services . The differences in the governmental funds statements and those o f the 
City-wide s t at ements are defined in the recon c iliation statements as part of the 
audit . 

Proprie t ary funds are those r evenues gained f rom activities and servi ces that are 
primarily supported by user fees or charges for those r elat ed activities . The Ci ty 
maintains one proprietary fund , the Ambulance Servic e . This activity is maintai ned 
as an ent e r prise account and is repor ted separately to better demonstrate the cash 
flows and net of operational activity that is generat e d from the services 
t hroughou t the year . 

Notes to the financial statements a r e p r ovided as a dditional information that is 
essen t i a l for the reader's full understanding o f t he data provided within the 
statements . The notes include schedul e s of significant activities i ncluding 
Property Taxes , Other Revenues , Capi tal Outlays , Non- Capital Out l ays , Trust and 
Agency Funds, Fixed Assets a nd Othe r Expe nses . Schedules are a l so incl uded 
detailing the receipt and expenditures of Stat e and Feder a l Fi nancial Assistance . 
These schedul es det ail the total anticipated receipts, receipts and expendi tur es to 
date and the outstanding balances not yet encumber ed at t he time of the statements . 

The Statement of Net Position (Exhibit A) reports total net position of $ 1 6 , 419 , 614 
from t he combined operations of the Governmental and Business-type act i vity . This 
aggr egate amount consi sts of tota l assets less depreciation and liabilities for 
these combined operations . Exhi b i t A is delineated into Assets : Current and Non­
current , Liabilities : Current and Non- current , and Net Position : Investment in 
Capital Asset s , Restri cted and Unrestricte d . 

The reade r should refer to Table I as a comparison of Exhibit A of the net changes 
from 2011 to 2012 . Total Cur rent As set s increased by $173 , 767 in 2012 primarily 
due to changes in receivables with increases i n Taxes Rece i vables of $137 , 121 or 
1 6% from the p r ior year . Outstanding taxes represented 13 . 3% as compar ed to 11 . 6% 
for 2011 . Capital Assets , net of depreciation, inc r eased by $ 1 ,517,750 primarily 
from constr uction in the removal of obstructions at the airport and the boiler 
project . 

II I 



City o f Caribou, Maine 

Management ' s Discussion and Analysis 
For t he Year Ended December 31, 2012 

UNAUDITED 

Table I indicates Current Liabilities increased by $281 , 697 . Increases in accounts 
payable, deferr ed taxes and current portion of the note payable were offset by a 
decrease in deferr ed compensation . The Not e Payable for the construction of the 
boi l er is new for 2012 which increases Noncurr ent Liabilit i es by $94 1, 948 . Net 
Pos i tion increased by $467 , 872 for 2012 as Total Assets increased by $1 , 691,517 and 
Liabilities increased by $1 , 223,645 . 

The Statement of Activities Exhibit B combines the Expenses, Charges for Services, 
and Revenues associated with each governmental activity and business- type activity 
on a department by department basis . All changes in net position are r eported as 
soon as t he activity occurs , regardless of the timing of the related cash flow 
relevant to t he event. Theref ore , revenues and expenses are reported in this 
s t atement for some items that will only r esult in a change in cash in future fiscal 
periods. Expenses by governmental activity are displayed graphically for 
comparison for both 2012 and 2011 as Government Activities Expenses . These pie 
charts should aid the reader to make a visual comparison in changes from 2011 to 
2012 . 

IV 



City of Caribou, Maine 

Management ' s Discussion and Analysis 
for the Year Ended December 31 , 2012 

UNAUDITED 

Table I p r ovides data for the Governmental Activities for the years ended 2012 and 2011 . 

Current Assets 
Cash and temporary investments 
Taxes receivable 
Notes receivable 
Other recei vables 
Other current assets 

Total Current Assets 

Noncurrent Assets 
Capital assets, net of depreciation 

Total Assets 

Current Liabilities 

Tabl e I 
Net Position 

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 
Deferred compensation 
Deferred taxes 
Curr ent portion note payable 

Noncurrent Liabilities 
Note payable, net of current portion 

Net Position 
Investment in capital assets, net of related debt 
Restrict ed for special revenue funds 
Unrestrict ed 

TOTAL NET POSITION 

v 

2012 2011 

$ 3 , 375 , 039 $ 3,317,777 
992 ,308 855 , 187 
312 ' 720 321 ,4 20 
253 ,652 236 , 976 
196, 119 224 , 711 

5,129, 838 4,956 , 071 

13,957 , 305 12,439,555 

19,087 ,143 17,395,626 

254 ,154 76 ,7 12 
680 , 651 726 , 194 
746 ,4 56 640 , 978 

44 , 320 

1,725 , 581 1,443,884 

941 ,948 

12,971,037 12 , 439 , 555 
227 , 325 219 , 975 

3, 221,252 3,292,212 

$ 16, 419 , 614 $ 15, 951 , 742 



4% 

1% 

3% 

1%r-.-.. .... _:__ 
3% 

City of Caribou, Maine 

Management ' s Discussion and Analysis 
For the Year Ended Decembe r 31 , 2012 

UNAUDITE D 

2012 Government Activity Expense 

0 General Government 

• Public Works 

0 Protection 

0 Education 

• Recreation 

0 County tax 

• Chamber of Commerce 

0 Insurance and retirement 

• Library 

a Other 

26% 

2011 Government Activity Expense 

5% 

VI 

D General Government 

• Public Works 

o Protection 

a Education 

• Recreation 

o County tax 

I!! Chamber of Commerce 

o Insurance and retirement 

• Library 

a Other 



City of Caribou, Maine 

Management 's Discussion and Analysis 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2012 

UNAUDITED 

The reader should refer to Tab l e II as a comparison of the changes in Net Position 
from 2011 to 2012 . Total City net Expenditures for Governmental activities 
combined was $10,375,395, as compared to $10 , 056 ,561 for 2011 . The major 
components of the $319,000 increase in Expenditures were $121,149 in Education and 
$234 , 736 in other activities . 

For 2012 the total General Revenues were $10 ,137 ,684 as compared to $10,206,215 for 
2011, a decrease of $68 , 531 . Taxes increased by $70 , 103 due to rising costs and 
losses of other non-property tax revenue. Federal and State Assistance decreased 
by $73,148 wholly comprised of losses in State Revenue Sharing and Urban Rural 
Improvements Program (MOOT) pass through funding . Other revenues decreased by 
$85 , 222 combined. There was a slight increase in Excise tax of $19,736. 
Management recognizes these significant losses of broad based taxation, non­
property tax revenue, as a negative trend that will impact property taxation and 
service level provisions in future years . TQis is foreseen as a trend that may 
continue to impact the City for another 2 to 3 years . Pie charts follow to give 
the reader a visual indication of these sources of City Revenues for 2012 as 
compared to 2011 . 

Table II also compares the change in Net Position being a negative $237,711 from 
Governmental Activities in 2012 , as compared to a positive $149,654 in 2011 

For Business-type activities , Table II shows the Ambulance Service expending 
$1,560 , 353 while generating revenues of $2,265 , 936 from billings producing a net 
income of $467,872 for 2012 compared to a net income of $379, 645 in 2011 . The 
Ambulance also transferred $135,997 to the General Fund due to operations and 
change in receivables . See Exhibit H for full details of this Business- type 
Activity . The Service receives no net support from property taxation . 

VII 



City of Caribou, Ma ine 

Management ' s Discussion and Anal ysis 
For the Year Ended December 31 , 2012 

UNAUDITED 

Table I I shows the changes i n net assets for the years 20 12 and 2011 . 

Table I I 
Change in Net Position 

Governmental Activities : 

Gene r a l Revenues 
Taxes 
Federal and s tate assist ance 
Excise taxes 
Other revenues 

Total general revenues 

General Exoenses , net of r elated revenues 
General Government 
Public Works 
Protection 
Education 
Recreat i on 
County tax 
Chamber of Commer ce 
Insurance and retirement 
Libr a ry 
Capit al pr ojects 
Other 

Tota.1 general activi t ies expenses 

Change in Net Position from general governmental activities 

Bus i ness- type Activity : 
Revenues 

Charges for services 
Capital grants and contribut ions 

Total business -type activi ty revenues 

Expenses 

Change in Net Position from business- type activity 

Change in Net Position 

Net Position J anuary 1 

Net Posit ion December 31 

VIII 

$ 7 , 467,596 
860 , 004 

1,199,933 
610 ,1 51 

10,137 , 684 

513 , 788 
1 , 901 , 324 
1 , 976 , 021 
3 , 213, 918 

763 , 307 
364 , 644 
101 , 383 
466, 639 
295 , 855 

(456 , 232) 
1 , 234 , 748 

10, 375 , 395 

(237 , 71 1 ) 

1, 714 , 337 
551,599 

2,265 , 936 

1, 560 , 353 

705 , 583 

467,872 

15,951 , 742 

$ 16, 419 , 614 

$ 7,397 , 493 
933 , 152 

1 ,180, 197 
695, 373 

10,206 , 215 

487 , 925 
1,983 , 285 
1, 98 6, 397 
3,092 , 769 

751 , 326 
356, 052 

54,1 62 
422 , 695 
274 , 313 

(352 ,375) 
1,000 ,012 

10 , 056,561 

149 , 654 

1 , 812,263 

1,812,263 

1 , 582 , 272 

229 , 991 

379, 645 

15 , 572 , 097 

$15,951 , 742 
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Ci ty of Caribou , Maine 

Management ' s Discussion and Analys i s 
For the Year Ended December 31 , 2012 

UNAUDITED 

2012 Government Activity Revenue 

0 

• 
52% 0 

0 

• 
0 

2011 Government Activity Revenue 

5% 

0 

• 
0 

54% 
0 

• 
0 

IX 

Property taxes 

Restricted grants 

Charges for services 

Excise taxes 

Unrestricted grants 

Other 

Property taxes 

Restricted grants 

Charges for services 

Excise taxes 

Unrestricted grants 

Other 



City of Caribou, Maine 

Management 's Discussion and Analysis 
cor the Year Ended December 31 , 2012 

UNAUDITED 

Management has produced Table III to further assist the reader in assessing the 
major changes in Revenues for the City comparing the 2012 current year to that of 
2011 . Total City Revenues for 2012 were $14 , 426, 684 , an increase of $645,064 
compared to 2011 . Property Taxes incr eased by $70 , 103 due to increased 
expenditures for both municipal and school operations coupled with the loss o f 
prior revenues . Restricted Grants increased by $746 , 856 due to ongoing work at the 
Airport funded 95% by FAA, 2 . 5% State, and 2 . 5% Local . Unrestricted Grants 
decreased by $73 ,148 due to losses of State Revenue Sharing . Management recognizes 
the need to reduce revenue f rom property taxes by maximizing other non- property tax 
revenues provided charges f or servi ces are reasonable and customary or f a l l within 
State allowances . Management also recognizes the continued detri mental impacts 
upon property taxation stemming from the State' s reduction of Municipal Revenue 
Sharing by over $42 million in 2011, reducing the City' s share from broad based 
taxation specifically set within Title 30-A §5681 to stabilize the municipal 
property tax burden . A graphic representation has been provided . 

x 



City of Caribou, Maine 

Management ' s Discussion and Analysis 
For the Year Ended December 31 , 2012 

UNAUDI TED 

Table I II s hows the percentage o f reve nue source s for governmental activities for the 
years 20 12 and 2011 . 

Governmental Revenues : 
Property taxes 
Restricted grants 
Charges for services 
Excise taxes 
Unrestricted grants 
Other 

Total City Revenues 

Table III 
Percentage of Revenue Sources 

$ 

2012 
Reve nues 

7 ,467,596 
2 , 281 ,945 
2 , 007 ,055 
1 , 199, 933 

860 , 004 
610, 151 

$ 14 , 426, 68 4 

XI 

2012 
{by 

oercentagel 

52% 
16% 
14% 
8% 
6% 
il 

100% 

$ 

2011 
Revenues 

7,397,493 
1 , 535 , 089 
2,040 , 316 
1 ,180 ,197 

933,152 
695 , 373 

$ 13 , 781 , 620 

20 11 
(by 

percentage) 

53% 
11% 
15% 
9% 
7% 
5% 

100% 



City of Caribou, Maine 

Management's Discussion and Analysis 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2012 

UNAUDITED 

Management has produced Table IV to illustrate any significant changes within the 
Governmental Expenditures from 2012 to 20 11 as a percentage of total expenditures 
fo r each year . Please refe r to page VI for pie charts i l lustrating the same. 
Tota l Governmental Expenses increased by $556 , 837 comprised of notable changes as 
follows : Education $121,149 due to the loss of prior ARRA funds , and Other of 
$291,204 . The remaining categories produced a net increase of $144 ,484 of 
additional expense in 2012 . 

XII 



City of Caribou, Maine 

Management ' s Discussion and Analysis 
For the Year Ended December 31 , 2012 

UNAUDITED 

Tab le IV shows the percentage of expenses fo r governmental act ivit ies for the years 2012 
and 2011 . 

Government al Expenses : 
Gener al Government 
Publ ic Works 
Protection 
Education 
Recr eat i on 
Coun ty t ax 
Chamber of Corrunerce 
Insurance and retirement 
Li brary 
Ambulance 
Ot her 

Total Governmental Expenses 

Table rv 
Percentage of Expenses 

2012 
2012 {by 

Expenses percentage) 

$ 628,111 4% 
2 , 096 , 615 15% 
2,207,125 16% 
3 , 213 , 918 23% 

820 , 492 6% 
364 , 644 3% 
101,383 1 % 
466 ,639 3% 
295 , 855 2% 

1 , 560 ,353 11% 
2 , 203 , 677 16% 

$ 13 , 958 , 812 100% 

XIII 

2011 
2011 (by 

Expenses oercentagel 

$ 603,914 5% 
2,142 ,036 16% 
2,147 , 376 16% 
3,092 , 769 23% 

813, 913 6% 
356 , 052 3% 

54 , 162 0% 
422 , 695 3% 
274,313 2% 

1,582 , 272 12% 
1,912 , 473 14% 

$ 13, 401 , 975 100% 



City of Caribou , Maine 

Management ' s Discussion and Analysis 
For the Year Ended December 31 , 2012 

UNAUDITED 

A balance sheet of the City's Governmental Fund is provided in Exhibit C. Total 
Assets ended 2012 at $4,872,927, an increase of $118,183. Total Liabil i ties ended 
the year at $956,854 , an increase of $238 , 073 . Fund Balances ended 2012 at 
$3 , 916,073, a decrease of $119, 890 . Capital Outlays were more than tot al 
appropriations, Grants , Transfers , or Other Resources with starting balances 
exceeding the end of the year by $118 , 370 , see Schedules 3a and 3b . Fur ther Fund 
Balance reduction was from Non- capital Outlays , see Schedule 4, of $44 , 339 . 
Exhibi t D is a reconcili at i on of the Statement of Revenues , Expenditures and 
Changes in Fund Balance for the Govern.mental Funds , excluding bus i ness - type funds , 
for 2012 . Exhibit D summarizes the City, Section 8 Housing , Boiler Pr o ject and 
Special Revenue Funds compri sing the Total Governmental Funds . The major 
components are summarized a s f ollows : 

Exhibit D indicates that Total Gover nmental Revenues available in 2012 we r e 
$12,171 , 233 and Expenditures were $13 , 413 , 412 , an excess of Expenditures over 
Revenue $1,242,179 . This e xcess of expenditures of revenue does not i nclude the 
business-type activity of the Ambul ance contributing $135 , 997 or proceeds f rom 
long-term debt of $986 , 268 for a combined increase to Fund Balance of $1 , 122,265 . 
Fund Balance ending December 31 , 2012 was $3 , 916,073, a net reduction of $119,890 . 

Further reconciliation of the Government Funds Statement of Revenues, Expenditures 
and Changes in Fund Balances for the City- wide Statement of Accivities is displayed 
in Exhibit F . 

Exhibits G, H and I are Proprietary Funds and all pertain to the business-type 
activity of the Ambulance stating Net Position, changes in fund Net Position, and 
Cash Flows due to operations respectively . 

The Reader may refer to Suppl ement 1 as the best report comparing the City ' s 
Governmental Fund and Bus i nes s -type Fund activity for the year as they compared to 
budget . Total Expenditures for the year , excluding Ambulance , were $10 , 919 , 626 , 
$94 , 682 less than budgeted . Revenues , excluding Ambulance , were $10 , 554 , 370 , 
$62 , 671 more than budgeted . Expenditures exceeded Revenues by $365 , 256 for the 
year . Total Other Sources o f $221 , 780 came from the ambulance fund . Capital 
outlays of $439,142 further reduced fund balance . The resulting net decrease in 
Fund Balance General Fund from Governmental Operations was $582,618 . 

The Ambulance Service on Supplement l had Total Revenues of $2,035 , 796, $24 , 238 
less than budgeted, and Total Expenditures of $1 , 814,016, $289,908 greater than 
budgeted . The Ambulance Service had a net of operations of just $221,780 for the 
year as compared to a budgeted $535 , 926 . Ambulance volumes met expectations but 
reimbursements continued to lag the interruption of billing when the Federal 
Resolution to fund Medicare was not passed, the Super Rural Fees were delayed and 
then unfunded, and 2010 retro- payments on Medicare provisions remain outstanding 
for final processing . The uncertainty of the State and Federal reimbursement and 
processing continues to detrimentally impact Ambulance receipts . 
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City of Caribou, Maine 

Management ' s Discussion and Analysis 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2012 

UNAUDITED 

A more complete understanding of the capital out lay is summarized in Note 7 of this 
audit . Note 7 indicates that the City' s capital assets, net of depreciat i on , 
increased by $968,505 in t o tal. Additions to construction-in-process , buildings , 
vehicles and equipment totaled $1 , 375 , 839 whi le depreciat ion across land 
improvements, buildings, vehicles and equipment totaled $396 , 825 , depreciation 
being less than additions by $979 , 014 . Management recognizes chis relationship as 
one of t i ming as the annualized rate of contribution supporting capital assets can 
be greater or less than a given year's replacements or upgrades . Management does , 
however , recognize the trend over the past decade has been a positive input greater 
t han depreciation, an indication of prudent maintenance of the City's capital 
assets . Note 7 also indica tes that the Business-type Activity of the Ambulance had 
depreciation of $131 , 081 with additions of $722 , 999, a net increase of $591 , 918 for 
the year . 

The City of Caribou continues to be fiscally strong . The City continues to 
maximize non-property tax revenue sources to lower the overall burden on property 
taxa tion . Management recognizes the future difficulties of funding municipal 
operations as Federal and State distributions continue to decline for the 
foreseeable near term with potential increased burden upon property taxation . 

Management concludes this section of the 2012 Aud i t with the continued pledge of 
researching and applying where possible economies of scale, regionalized services , 
best practices and efficiencies to minimize these pending impacts . This concludes 
the Management Discussion and Analysis Statement for the calendar year of 2012 . A 
complete copy of the 2012 audited financials for the City of Caribou may be viewed 
at the Caribou City Office , 25 High Street during normal business hours of 8 : 00AM 
to 5 : 00PM Monday through Friday . 

xv 



CITY OF CARIBOU, MAINE 

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION 
DECEMBER 31 , 2012 

ASSETS 
CURRENT ASSETS 

Cash and temporary investments (Note 2) 
Investments 
Uncollected taxes 
Tax acqui red property 
Account s receivable 
Allowance for uncollectibles 
Inventories 
Prepaid expenses 
Notes receivable (Notes 3 and 4) 
Restricted cash (Note 5) 
Other assets 

NONCURRENT ASSETS 
Capital assets (Note 7) 

Non- depreciable 
Depr eciable 
Less allowance for deprecia tion 

Total assets 

LIABILITIES 
CURRENT LIABILITIES 

Accounts payable 
Accrued payroll 
Accr ued interest 
Escrow (Note 5) 
Deferred r evenues - property t axes 
Compensated absences (Note 1) 
Current portion, notes payable 

Total cur rent liabilities 

NONCURRENT LIABILITIES (Note 8) 
Notes payable, net of current portion 

Total liabilities 

NET POSITION 
Investment in capital assets, net of 

related debt 
Restricted for : 

Special revenue funds 
Unrestricted 

Total net position 

Governmental 
Activit i e s 

$ 2 , 694 , 024 
681 , 015 
887 , 973 
104 ' 335 
151, 686 
(95, 000) 
29 , 889 
60, 399 

312 , 720 
104, 543 

1 , 288 

4, 932 , 872 

6, 866, llO 
11 , 970, 856 
(5 ,8 80 , 695) 

12 , 95 6, 271 

17 , 889, 143 

193, 520 
49 , 955 
ll , 741 
16, 424 

746, 456 
540, 935 

44, 320 

1 , 603, 351 

941 , 948 

2, 545 , 299 

11 , 970 , 003 

227 , 325 
3 , 146, 516 

$ 15 , 343, 844 

Business -
type 

Activity 

$ 

196, 966 

196,966 

1 , 468 , 729 
(467 , 695) 

1 , 001 , 034 

1 , 198 , 000 

32,469 

89, 761 

122,230 

122 , 230 

1, 001,034 

74,736 

$ 1 , 075, 770 

<Jlie accomparryino notes are an integra( part of tfzis financia( statement. 

$ 

EXHIBIT A 

Total 

2,694,024 
681,015 
887,973 
104,335 
348,652 
(95 , 000) 
29 , 889 
60 , 399 

312 , 720 
104,543 

1,288 

5,129,838 

6, 866, 110 
13,439,585 
(6,348 , 390) 

13,957 , 305 

19,087,143 

225,989 
49,955 
11 , 741 
16, 424 

746, 456 
630 , 696 

44 , 320 

1,725,581 

941,948 

2 , 667,529 

12,971 , 037 

227,325 
3,221,252 

$ 16, 419 , 614 



CITY OF CARIBOU, MAINE 

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES 
FQR THE Y£AR ENDED QECEMBER 31 . 2012 

Progra.m 
Reyenues 

Operating Capital 
Charges for 

Services 
Grants and Grants and 

functions/Programs Expenses Contributions Contributions 

Primary Government 
Governmental Activities: 

General government 
Conununity development 
Health and sanitation 
Public works 
Protection 
Insurance and retirement 
Recreation 
Library 
County tax 
General assistance 
Education 
Chamber of Conunerce 
Section 8 Housing 
Capital projects 
Interest expense 
Other 

Total governmental 
activities 

Business-type Activity: 
Ambulance service 

Total City 

Gener al revenues: 
Taxes 

$ 628,111 
84 , 292 

269 , 528 
2,096,615 
2,207,125 

466,639 
820,492 
295,855 
364,644 
49,913 

3,213,918 
101 , 383 
978,678 

11, 741 
809,525 

12,398,459 

l,560 , 353 

$ 13, 958, 812 

$ 114 t 323 

42 , 169 
117,074 

19,152 

292L 718 

1 ,714 ,337 

$2,007,055 

Property taxes, levied for general purposes 

$ 

153,122 
114, 030 

968, 929 

1, 236 , 081 

$ 1,236, 081 

Homestead reimbursement and other property tax related 
Supplemental taxes 
Excise 
Interest on delinquent taxes and lien fees 
Payments in lieu of t axes 

Federal and state aid not restricted to specific purposes 
Interest on deposits and notes 
Cable TV franchise 
Miscellaneous revenues 

$ 

38,033 

456, 232 

494,265 

551, 599 

$ 1,045,864 

Net transfers governmental and business-type funds from operations 

Subtotal , general r evenues and transfers 

Change in net position 

NET POSITION - JANUARY 1, 2012 

NET POSITION - DECEMBER 31, 2012 

'I1ie acromparryin9 notes art au inte9ra( part of tliis fi11a11cia( statnnent. 

EXHIBIT B 

Net (Expenses) Revenue 
and Changes in Net Position 

Governmental 
Activities 

$ (513, 788) 
(84 , 292) . 

(269,528) 
(1 , 901, 324) 
(1 ,976, 021) 

(466, 639 ) 
(763, 307) 
(295, 855) 
(364 , 644 ) 
(49, 913) 

(3, 213 , 918) 
(101 , 383) 

(9,749) 
456,232 
(11, 741) 

(809, 525) 

(10,375,395) 

(10, 375 , 395) 

7 , 175,919 
212 , 574 

79,103 
1,199,933 

52,210 
59,023 

860, 004 
7 , 240 

60, 641 
431,037 
135,997 

10 , 273,681 

(101 , 714) 

15, 445, 558 

$ 15,343,844 

Business­
type 

Activity 

$ 705, 583 

705,583 

(135,997) 

(135, 997) 

569,586 

506,184 

$ 1, 075, 770 

I2lll 

$ (513, 788) 
(84, 292) 

(269,528) 
(1, 901, 324) 
(1 , 976, 021) 

(466,639 ) 
(763, 307) 
(295,855) 
(364, 644) 

(49,913) 
(3 , 213 , 918) 

(101 , 383) 
(9, 74 9) 

456,232 
(11 , 741) 

(809, 525) 

(10, 375 , 395) 

705,583 

(9, 669, 812) 

7, 175,919 
212,574 

79 , 103 
1,199,933 

52,210 
59,023 

860,004 
7,240 

60,641 
431,037 

10, 137 t 684 

467,872 

15, 951, 742 

$ 16, 419, 614 



CITY OF CARIBOU, MAINE 
EXHIBIT C 

BALANCE SHEET 
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 

AS OF DECEMBER 31 , 2012 

Special 
Section 8 Revenue Total 

Housing Boiler Funds Governmental 
General Fund Proararn Proiect (Schedule 51 ~ 

~ 
Cash and temporary investments (Note 2) $2,164,945 $ 36, 148 $ - $ 492, 931 $2,694,024 
Investments 39, 938 - 641, 077 - 681,015 
Uncollected taxes 887 , 973 - - - 897 , 973 
Tax acquired prope rty 104 , 335 - - - 104,335 
Accounts receivable 151,686 - - - 151,686 
Allowance for uncol lectibles (95,000) - - - (95 , 000) 
Due from other funds 454 - - - 454 
Inventories 29,889 - - - 29,889 
Notes receivable (Notes 3 and 4) 301,520 - - 11, 200 312,720 
Restricted cash (Note 5) - 104,543 - - 104,543 
Ot her assets - 1,298 - --- 1,289 

Total asset s $ 3 , 585, 740 $141, 979 $641 , 077 $ 504 , 131 $ 4, 972 , 927 

LI8~!~III~S a~~ EUND ~Al.8~~~s 
Liabilities: 

Accounts p a yable $ 44,830 $ 750 $147 , 940 $ - $ 193,520 
Escrow (Note 5) - 16, 424 - - 16,424 
Due to other funds (Note 6) - 454 - - 454 
Deferred r e venue - property taxes 746 ,4 56 - - - 746, 456 

Total liabilities 791 , 296 17, 629 147 , 940 - 956, 854 

Fund balances : 
Nonspendable 

Inventory 29,899 - - - 29,889 
Restricted 

Special revenue funds - 124 , 351 - 227,325 351,676 
Unrestricted 

Assigned 
Capital (Schedule 3) 871, 679 - 493 , 137 276 , 806 1, 64 1, 622 
Non-capital (Schedule 4) 569, 883 - - - 569, 883 

Unassigned 
General fund 1,163,030 - - - 1, 163,030 
Deferred p roperty taxes 159,973 - - - 159,973 

Total fund balances 2,794,454 124,351 493, 137 504,131 3, 916, 073 

Total liabilities and fund balance s $ 3 , 585, 740 $141,979 $641 , 077 $ 504 , 131 $4 , 872 , 927 

'11ie accompanyi11g notu are a11 i11ugra(part of this fina11cia( statement. 



CITY OF CARIBOU, MAINE 

STATEMENT OF REVENOES, EXPENDITORES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE 
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 

FQR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31. 2012 

Section 8 
Housing Boiler 

General Fund f,i;:12gi;:51m f,[Qjs:s;t 
REVENOES 

Local property taxes $7,202,884 $ - $ -
Homestead reimbursement 212' 574 - -
Supplemental taxes 79,103 - -
Abatements (26, 965) - -

Federal assistance 76,631 968,929 -
State assistance 878,220 - -
Other revenues 2,264,273 142 3 

TOTAL REVENUES 10, 686, 720 969, 071 3 

EXPENDITORES 
General government 635,227 166, 095 -
Community development 84 , 857 - -
Health and sanitation 269, 528 - -
Public works 2 , 275, 780 - -
Protection 2,078 , 526 - -
I nsurance and retir ement 466,639 - -
Recreation 768 , 441 - -
Library 288,455 - -
County tax 364, 644 - -
General assistance 49,913 812 , 583 -
Education 3,213,918 - -
Chamber of Commerce 105,583 - -
Construction and improvements - - 4 93, 134 
Other (Schedule 2) 767,9 66 - -

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 11,369,477 978,678 4 93, 134 

EXCESS OF (EXPENDITORES OVER REVENUES) (682 , 757) (9,607) (493, 131) 

OTHER SOURCES 
Transfer from ambulance reserve 135,997 - -
Proceeds from long-term debt - - 986,268 
Transfer from other funds 24 - -

TOTAL OTHER SOURCES 136,021 - 986, 268 

OTHER USES 
Transfer to other funds 202,855 - -

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN FUND BALANCE (749 , 591) (9 ,607) 493,137 

FUND BALANCE - J ANUARY l , 2012 3 ,544, 045 133 ,958 -

FUND BALANCE - DECEMBER 31, 2012 $ 2,794,454 $124 , 351 $ 493 , 137 

'l1ie accomparryin9 notts arr arr irrttgraf part of tliis finarrcia{ statement. 

EXHIBIT D 

Special 
Revenue Total 

Funds Governmental 
!Ss;bs:d1.1ls: ~l ~ 

$ - $ 7 , 202,884 
- 212,574 
- 79,103 
- (26, 965) 

452,487 1,498,047 
60,961 939,181 

1,991 2,266,409 

515, 4 39 12, 171,233 

- 801,322 
- 84 , 857 
- 269 , 520 
- 2 , 275,780 

61 , 64 9 2 , 140, 175 
- 4 66, 639 
- 768, 441 
- 288,455 
- 364, 644 
- 862, 4 96 
- 3,213,918 
- 105,583 

510 ,4 74 1,003 , 608 
- 767,966 

572 , 123 13,413,412 

(56, 684) (1 , 242, 179) 

- 135, 997 
- 986,268 

202 , 855 202, 879 

202,855 l, 325, 14 4 

- 202,855 

HG, 171 ( 119, 890) 

357 , 960 4,035 , 963 

$ 504,131 $ 3, 916, 073 



CITY OF CARIBOU, MAINE 

RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS BALANCE SHEET 
WITH THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION 

DECEMBER 31, 2012 

Total fund balance - governmental funds (Exhibit C) 

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the 
statement of net position a re different because : 

Capital asset s used in governmental activities are not 
f inancial resources and, therefore , are not reported 
as assets in governmental funds : 

The cost o f capital assets is 
Accumulated depreciation is 

Certain long-term liabilit i es a re not due and payable 
from current financial resources and, therefore , are 
not reported in the funds : 

Notes payable 

Prepaid expenses 
Accrued payroll 
Accrued interest 
Compensated absences 

Total net position - government al activities (Exhibit A) 

$18,836, 966 
5 , 880,695 

'ITie accompanyina notes are an inte9ra[ part of t fzi.s jinancia{ statement. 

EXHIBIT E 

$ 3,916,073 

12 , 956 , 271 

(986 , 268) 

60 , 399 
(49 , 955) 
(11 , 741) 

(540,935) 

$ 15 , 343 , 844 



CITY OF CARIBOU, MAINE 
EXHIBIT F 

RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES 
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES WITH THE CITY-WIDE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 , 20 12 

Tocal net change in fund balances - governmental funds (Exhibit 0) 

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of 
activities are different because: 

Capital outlays to purchase or build capital assets are 
reported in governmental funds as expendi tures. However , 
for governmental activities those costs are shown in the 
statement of net position and allocated over their estimated 
useful lives as annual depreciation expense in the statement 
of activities . This is t he amount by which capital outlays 
exceed depreciation expense in the period . 

Capital outlays 
Depreciation expense 

$ 1, 375 , 839 
(396 , 825) 

In the statement of activities, only the gain on the sale of 
fixed assets is reported, whereas in the governmental funds , 
the entire proceeds from the sale increases financial 
resources. Therefore, the change in net assets differs from 
the change in fund balance by the depreciated value of assets 
sold . 

Expenses paid prior to the period due are accounted for under 
the non-allocated method and are, therefore, reported as 
expenses in the current period in governmental funds . 
However , for governmental activities, these amounts are 
recorded as prepaid expenses and are expensed when the item 
is consumed . 

Compensation for accrued vacation and sick pay not yet paid is 
accumulated using the governmental activities fund to the 
extent that amounts would be paid to the employees upon 
retirement . These funds are not accumulated for the 
governmental activities fund . 

Proceeds from long- term debt is a source of financing in 
governmental funds . However , proceeds from long-term 
debt are not revenue in statement of activities , but 
constitute long-term liabi l ities in the statement 
of activities . 

Some expenses reported in the Statement of Activities do not 
require the use of current financial resources and , 
therefore, are not reported as expenditures in governmental 
funds : 

Decrease in accrued payroll 
(Increase) in accrued interest payable 

Change in net position of governmental activities (Exhibit B) 

'Tfte accompanying notes are an integra( part of tfiis financiaC statement. 

$ (119, 890) 

979, 014 

(10, 509) 

2,137 

63,217 

(986,268) 

(17,674) 
(11, 741) 

$ (101, 714 ) 



ASSETS 

CURRENT ASSETS 

CITY OF CARIBOU, MAINE 

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION 
PROPRIETARY FUND 

AS OF DECEMBER 31 . 2012 

Cash and temporary investments (Note 7) 
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $37,044 

Total current assets 

NONCURRENT ASSETS 
Land, buildings and improvements 
Vehicles and equipment 

Total noncurrent asset s 

Accumulated depreci ation 

Net noncurrent assets 

Total assets 

LIABILITIES 

CURRENT LIABILITIES 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 

NET POSITION 

Invested in capital assets 
Unrestricted 

Total net position 

'Ifie accomparrying notes are a11 i1lte9ra{ part of tfzis fi11a11cia{ statement. 

$ 

EXHIBIT G 

196,966 

196,966 

223 , 065 
1 , 245 , 664 

1, 468 , 729 

(467 , 695) 

1 , 001 , 034 

1 , 198 , 000 

122,230 

1,001,034 
74,736 

$ 1 , 075, 770 



CITY OF CARIBOU, MAINE 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION 
PROPRIETARY FUND 

Operating revenues 
Fees 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 . 2012 

Less contractual allowances 
Internal service - Caribou 
Outside service - Other Municipalities 
Veterans ' Administration contracts 
Billing services 
Other 

Total operating revenues 

Operating expenses 
Salaries and benefits 
Transport expenses 
Occupancy 
Equipment and vehicle expense 
Supplies and materials 
Depreciation 
Uncollectible 
Other 

Total operating expenses 

Operating income 

OTHER SOURCES (USES) 
Donation of surplus equipment 
Transfer t o general fund 

Change in net position 

TOTAL NET POSITION - JANUARY 1 , 2012 

TOTAL NET POSITION - DECEMBER 31, 2012 

rzne accompanying notes are an integra( part of tli.is financia( statement. 

EXHIBIT H 

Ambulance 
Service 

$1,730,447 
(304 , 532) 

88 , 032 
43, 813 
94 f 713 
49,077 
12 , 787 

1,714,337 

916,557 
290, 437 

41,127 
32,392 
12,451 

131,081 
118 , 686 

17 , 622 

1 , 560,353 

153,984 

551 , 599 
(135 , 997) 

415 , 602 

569 , 586 

506 , 184 

$ 1, 075 , 770 



CITY OF CARIBOU, MAINE 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
PROPRIETARY FUND 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 , 2012 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Cash r eceived f rom fees 
Cash payments for sal a ries and benefits 
Cash payments for t r ansportat i on 
Cash payments for ot her operat i ng costs 

Net cash p r ovided by oper ating act ivities 

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACT I VITIES 
Purchase of capital asse t s 

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
Advance (t o) general fund 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents - J anuar y 1 , 2012 

Cash a nd cash equival ents - December 31 , 2012 

Reconci liation of oper at i ng income to net cash 
provided by operat i ng act ivities : 
Operating income 
Adjustments to reconci l e ope r ating income 

to net cash provided by operat ing activities : 
Depreciation 
Changes in assets and liabilities : 

Receivabl es 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 

Net cash provided by operating activities 

NONCASH CAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
During the year, the City received $551, 599 
of equipment donated from the De fense 
Reutilization and Marketing Office . 

'1Jie accompanying notes are an irztegra( part of tliis firzancia( statement. 

EXHIBIT I 

$ 1 , 680 , 843 
(903 , 404) 
(290 , 437) 
(222 , 278) 

264 , 724 

(128 , 727) 

(135 , 997) 

$ 

$ 153 , 984 

131, 081 

(33 , 494) 
13 , 153 

$ 264, 724 



ASSETS 
Cash 

NET POSITION 
Undesignated 

CITY OF CARIBOU, MAINE 

STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSIT ION 
DECEMBER 31 , 2012 

Hospital Cemet ery 
Memorial Trust 

Total Funds Funds 

$213 , 691 $47 , 520 $1 , 314 

$213 , 691 $47,52 0 $1, 314 

CITY OF CARIBOU, MAINE 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 , 2012 

Library 
Trust 
Funds 

$61 , 151 

$61 , 151 

Hospital Cemeter y Li brary 

EXHIBIT J 

Memorial 
Funds 

$103,706 

$103 , 706 

Memorial Trust Trust Memorial 
Funds Funds Funds Funds 

REVENUE 
Interest income $ 2 , 961 $ 588 $ 3 $ 1 , 556 $ 814 
Contributi ons 15,000 15,000 

17 , 961 588 3 1 , 556 15 , 814 

DEDUCTIONS 
Expenses 15,000 15,000 
Transfer to other funds 24 24 

15 , 02 4 24 15,000 

NET CHANGE IN NET POSITION 2 ,937 588 (21) 1,556 814 

NET POSITION - JANUARY 1 210 , 754 46 , 932 1, 335 59 , 595 102 ,892 

CASH AND NET POSITION - DECEMBER 31 $213 , 691 $4 7 , 520 $1 , 314 $61 , 151 $103 ,706 

rrlie accompanying notes are an integra{ part of this fina11cia{ statement. 



CITY OF CARIBOU , MAINE 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
DECEMBER 31, 2012 

(1) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICI ES 

The City of Caribou, Maine incor porated and adopted its first charter in 
1967, which allows for a Council-Manager form of government . The Council 
consists of seven members elected by the voters with indi vidua l t erms of 
three years. 

The financial statement s of the .City have been prepared in conformity with 
generally accepted accounting principles as appl i ed to governmental units . 
The authority establishing t he standards for governmental accounting princi ­
ples is the Governmental Account ing Standards Board (GASB). 

The accompanying financial statements include all governmental and 
expendable fiduciary fund types and account groups except for Cary Medi cal 
Center and Caribou Utilities District . The financial statements of these 
component units have been or are being audited and reported on by other 
independent auditors . 

The Cit y of Cari bou ' s basic financial statements include City-wide 
statements , including a statement of net pos i t i on and a statement of 
activities, and fund financial statements that provide a more detailed level 
of financial inf ormation . 

City- wide Financial Statements - The statement of net position and the 
statement of activities di splay i nformation about the City as a whole . These 
statements include the financial activit ies of the primary government, except 
for fiduciary funds . These statements distinguish between those activities 
of the City that are governmental and those that are considered bus i ness-type 
activities .· 

The stat ement of net position presents the financial condit i on of the 
gove r nmental and business-type activity of the City at year-end . The 
statement of activities presents a compari son between direct expenses and 
program revenues for each department or funct i on o f the City's governmental 
activities and for the bus i ness-t ype activi ty of the City. Di rect expenses 
are those that are specifically associated with a service or department and, 
t herefore, clearly i dentifiable to a particular function . Program revenues 
include charges paid by the recipient for the goods or services offered by 
the department , grants and cont r i buti ons that are restricted to meeting the 
operational or capi tal requirements of a particular department and interest 
earned on grants that is required to be used to support a particular 
department. Revenues that a r e not cl assified as program revenues a r e 
present ed as general revenues of the City, with certain limited exceptions. 
The comparison of direct expenses with progr am r evenues identifies the extent 
to which each business segment or governmenta l function is self-financing or 
draws f rom the general revenue of the City . The effect of significant 
interfund activi ty has been eli mi nated from the government- wide financial 
stat ements. 

Fund Financial Statements - During the year , the City segregates 
transactions rel ated to certain City functions or activities in separate 
funds in order to aid financial management and to demonstrate legal 
compliance . Fund financi a l statements a r e designed to present financial 
information of the City at thi s more detailed level . The focus of 
governmenta l and enterprise fund financial statements is on major funds. 
Each major fund is presented in a separ ate column . Nonmajor funds ar e 
aggregat ed and pr esented in a single column . Fiduciary funds are reported by 
type. 

Fund Accounting 
The accounts of the City are organized on the basis of f unds or account 

groups, each of which is cons i dered a separate accounting entity . Each fund 



CITY OF CARIBOU, MAINE 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
DECEMBER 31 , 2012 

(1) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLIC I ES (Cont i nued) 

is accounted for by a separate set of self- balancing accounts that comprise 
its assets and account for the governmental resources allocated to them for 
t he purpose of carrying on specific act ivities in accordance with laws, 
regulations or other restrictions . The various funds are summarized by type 
in the financial statements . 

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
Governmental f unds are those t hrough which most governmental functions 

typically are financed . 

General Fund - The general fund accounts for financia l resources in use 
for general types of ope r ations . This i s a budgeted fund, and any fund 
balances are considered as resources ava i lable for use. Revenues are 
derived primarily from property and other local taxes, state and federal 
distributions, licenses, permits , cha r ges for servi ces, and interest 
income. A signif icant part of the General Fund ' s revenues are used 
principall y to finance the operations of the City of Caribou. 

Special Revenue Fund - This fund accounts for revenues derived from 
specific sources that are restrict ed by legal and regulatory provisions 
to finance specific activities . The special revenue fund is t h e 
aggregate of other funds for financial r eport ing purposes . 

PROPRIETARY FUND 
The proprietary fund is used to account for act i vities that are similar to 

those often found in the private sector. Al l assets, liabilities, equities , 
revenues, and expenses relat i ng to the government ' s business activity are 
accounted f or through a proprietary fund . Enterprise funds may be used to 
account for any act i v i ty for which a fee is charged to external users for 
goods or services . Relative to its p r opri etary fund, the City has elected to 
apply all relevant Financi a l Accounting Standards Board (FASB) pronouncements 
issued on or after November 30 , 1989 unl ess those pronouncements conflict 
with GASB pronouncements, in which case, GASB prevails . 

FIDUCIARY FUNDS 
Fiduciary fund report ing focuses on net position and changes in net 

position. The City's only fiduciary funds are agency funds. The City's 
agency funds account for trust funds donated to the City for those purposes . 

Measurement Focus 

City-wide Financial Statements - The Cit y-wide f inancial statements are 
prepared using the economi c resources measurement focus . All assets and 
l i abilities associated with the operation of the City are included in the 
statement of net pos i tion . 

Fund Financial Statements - All governmental funds are accounted for using 
a flow of current financi al resources measurement focus . With this 
measurement focus, only current assets and current liabilities generally 
are included on the balance sheet. The statement of revenues, expenditures 
and changes in fund bal ances reports on the sources (i.e . , revenues and 
other financing sources) and uses (i . e. , expenditures and other financing 
uses) of current financial resources. This approach d iffers from t he 
manner in which the governmental activities of the City-wide financia l 
statements are prepared . Governmental fund financia l statements, 
t herefore , i nclude a reconcil iation with brief explanations to better 
identify the re l a tionship bet ween the City- wide statements and the 
statements for governmental funds . 

Like the City- wide statements, the proprietary fund is accounted for on 
a flow of economic resources measurement focus . All assets and all 



CITY OF CARIBOU, MAINE 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
DECEMBER 31, 2012 

(1) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

liabilities associated with the operation of this fund are included on 
the statement of net position . The statement of changes in fund net 
position presents increases (i . e . , revenues} and decreases (i.e., expenses) 
in net t otal assets . The statement of cash flows provides information 
about how the City finances and meets t he cash flow needs of its 
proprietary activity . 

Basis of Accounting 
The basis of accounting determines when transactions are recorded in t he 

financia l records and reported on the financial statements. City-wide 
financial statements, t ogether with proprietary and fiduciary funds are 
prepared using the accrual basis of accounting . 

Governmental funds use the modified accrual basis of accounting. On the 
accrual basis of accounting, expenses are recognized at the time they are 
incurred . Differences in the accrua l and the modified accrua l basis o f 
accoun ting arise in the recognition of revenue and in the presentation of 
e xpenses versus expenditures . 

Revenues resulting from exchange transact ions, i n which each party gives 
and r eceives essentially equal value, are recorded on the accrua l basis 
when the exchange takes place . On a modified accrual basis , r evenu e is 
recorded in the f iscal year i n which the resources are measurable and 
become available . Available means that t he resources will be collected 
within the current f iscal yea r or are expected to be collected soon enough 
thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of the current year . For the 
City, available means expected to be received within 60 days o f fiscal 
year-end . Licenses and permits, charges for services, fines and forfeits 
and miscellaneous revenues are recorded as revenues when received in cash . 
General property taxes , self- assessed taxes and investment earnings are 
recorded when they become both measurable and available. Expenditures are 
recognized in the accounting period in which the fund l iabi l ity is 
incurred, if measurable, except for expenditures f or debt service, prepaid 
expenses and other long-term obl igat i ons, which are recognized when paid . 

Nonexchange transact ions, in that the City receives val ue without 
directly givi ng e qual value in return, include property taxes, g rants, 
entitlements and donations . Revenue from property taxes is r ecognized in 
the fiscal year for which the taxes are levied . Revenue from grants, 
entitlements and dona tions is r ecogni zed i n the fiscal year in which al l 
e l igibility requirements have been satisfied . Eligi bility requirement s 
include timing r equirements, which specify the year when the resources are 
required to be used or the year when use is first permit ted , matching 
requirements, in which the City must provide local resources to be used for 
a specified purpose, and expenditure requirements , in which the resources 
are provided to the City on a re imbursement basis. On the modified accrual 
basis , r evenue from nonexchange transact ions must also be available before 
i t can be recognized . 

The measurement f ocus of governmental f und accounting is on decreases in 
net financi a l resources (expendi tures ) rather t han e xpenses . Expenditures 
are general ly recogni zed i n the accounting p e r i od in which the related fund 
liability is incurred, if measurable . Allocations of cost, such as 
depreciation and amortization, are not r ecognized in governmental funds. 

Encumbrances represent commitments related to unper f ormed contracts for 
goods or services . Encumbrance accounting, under which purchase orders , 
contracts and other commitments f or t he expenditure of resources are 
r ecorded to reserve that portion of fund balance, is uti l ized in the 
government al fund types . In the general fund, f o r budgetary purposes 



CITY OF CARIBOU, MAINE 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
DECEMBER 31, 2012 

(1) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNT I NG POLICIES (Cont inued) 

appropriations lapse at fisca l year-end except for that portion re l ated to 
encumbered amounts . Encumbrances outstanding at year-end are reported as 
reservations of fund balance and do not constitute expenditures or 
liabiliti es because the conunitments will be honored during the subsequent 
year. The encumbrances are subject to re - appropriat i on by the City counci l 
in any succeeding f iscal year . 

Budgetary Data 
Formal budgetary accounting is employed as a management control for all 

funds of the City. Annua l operat i ng budgets are adopted each year through 
passage of an annual budget ordinance and amended as required for the 
General Fund. In accordance with generally accepted account i ng principles, 
these budgets use the same account i ng basis to reflect actual revenues and 
expenditures . Budgets fo r the Special Revenue Funds are made on a project 
basis, sometimes spanning over more than one fiscal year. Budgetary 
control is exercised at the departmental level or by project . All 
unencumbered budget appropr iations , except reserve budgets , lapse at the 
end of each fiscal year. 

The general operati ng fund is legall y required to be budgeted and 
appropriated. The major document prepared is the tax budget, which 
separates these funds by function and estimated appropriati on needed to 
fund each function . The tax budget demonstrates a need for existing or 
increased tax rates. This budget is approved by the Caribou City Council 
and may be amended during the year if pr ojected increases or decreases in 
revenues or expendi tures are i dentified by the City . The amounts reported 
as the original budget amounts in the budgetary statements (Supplement 1) 
reflect the amounts in the l egally adopted budget. Changes, if any, are 
reflected in the final budget column . 

Cash and Temporary Investments 
Available cash is deposited in interest- bearing accounts to as great a 

degree as possible. These residual investments are classifi ed for 
reporting purposes as cash . Earnings from these investments are reported 
by the appl icable funds . The City ' s policy is to invest in regional banks 
and f ederal securities and to insur e the funds to as great a degree as 
possible. Deposit s wi th a maturi t y of three months or less are included in 
cash and temporary investments for financial reporting purposes . 

Monies for al l funds, including the proprietary fund, are maintained in 
a pool . Individual funds a r e maintained through the City's accounting 
records to allow proper segr egat i on of cash for each fund . 

Investments 
In accordance with GASB Statement No . 31, the City ' s general policy is to 

repor t money market investments and short - t erm part i cipating interest­
earning investment contracts at amortized cost and to report non­
participating int erest-earning investment contracts using a cost-based 
measur e. However, if the fair va lue o f an investment is significantly 
affected by the i mpai r ment of t he credit outstanding of the i ssuer or by 
other factors, it is reported a t fa ir value . All other investments are 
reported at fair value unless a legal cont r act exists which guarantees a 
higher value . The term " shor t-term" refers to investments, which have a 
remaining term of three months or less at time of purchase . The term "non­
participating" means that the investment ' s va l ue does not vary with 
market interest rate changes . 



CITY OF CARIBOU, MAINE 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
DECEMBER 31, 2012 

(1) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

Property Taxes 
Taxes are levied as of April 1 and are used to finance t he operations of 

the City for the calendar budget year beginning January 1 . Taxes are 
committed for collect ion on July 1 and are due and payable on or before 
September 30 . In accordance with Mai ne law, taxes not collected within 
eight months following the date of commitment are secured by liens. 

The City has adopted the standard established by GASB No. 33 regarding the 
recognition of property taxes . The cr i terion for this standard is to 
recognize property tax revenue as i t becomes both "measurable and available" . 
Measurable is defined as the amount that the City can reasonably expect to 
receive of the property taxes assessed for the current year. Available is 
defined as the amount that will be collected of current and past due taxes 
during the current period or expected to be collect ed shortly thereafter to 
pay current liabilities . For the purposes of this report, 60 days is used as 
the collection period after year-end. Accordingly, a liabili ty has been 
established on the combined bal ance sheet for the taxes cons i dered 
col l ectible but not available for current liabilities . 

Allowance for uncollectible receivables 
Taxes receivable are recorded at estimated net realizable value . 

Therefore, an allowance for uncollectible taxes of $95, 000 has been 
established. Tax revenue is recorded net of the allowance for uncollectible 
taxes. 

The ambulance service also reports accounts receivable net of the allowance 
for uncollectible accounts of $37,044. Revenues have been netted to reflect 
the allowance . 

Prepaid Expense 
Payments made benefiting future periods under the governmental fund basis 

are recorded under the non-allocated method and are currently expensed as 
paid . Payments made to vendors for services that will benefit periods beyond 
December 31, 2012, are r ecorded as prepaid items us ing the consumption method 
for City-wide activities . A current asset for the prepaid amount is recorded 
at the time of the purchase and an expense is reported in the year in which 
services are consumed. 

Inventories 
The City of Caribou inventories are valued a t cost. Cost is determined on 

the firs t-in, first - out basis . 

Capital Assets 
General capital assets are those assets not specifically related to 

activities reported in the proprietary funds . These assets generally result 
from expenditures in the governmental funds . These assets are reported in 
the governmental activities column of the City-wide statement of net position 
but are not reported i n t he fund financial statements . Capital assets 
utilized by the propr i etary funds are reported both in the business-type 
activit i es column of the City- wide statement of net position and in the 
respective funds . 

All capital assets are capitalized at cost (or estimated historical cost) 
and updated for additions and retirements during the year . Donated capital 
assets are recorded at their estimated fair value as of the date received . 
The City maintains a capitalization threshold of $3,000 for all assets other 
than infrastructure assets . The capitalization threshold for infrastructure 
assets is $50,000 . Improvements are capitalized; the costs of normal main­
tenance and repairs that do not add to the value of t he asset or materially 
extend asset lives are not capitalized. 



CITY OF CARIBOU, MAINE 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
DECEMBER 31, 2012 

(1) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNT I NG POLICIES (Continued) 

Capital assets are depreciated using the straight-line method over the 
fol l owing useful lives : 

Description 

Bui l dings and Improvements 
Furniture and Equipment 
Vehicles 

Gove r nmental 
Activities 

Est i mated Lives 

20-50 years 
5 - 20 yea r s 
8-10 years 

Business- type 
Activities 

Est i mated Lives 

N/A 
10- 15 years 

N/A 

Pursuant to GASB Statement No . 34, an extended period of deferr al (until 
2006) is available before the requirement to record and depreciate 
infrastructure assets {e . g . roads , bridges , s i dewalks, and similar items) 
acquired before the implementation date becomes effect i ve . The City 
developed an i mplementation to determine the val ue of and included 
infrastructure cost in 2006 . Infrastructure acquired prior t o December 2002 
has not been recorded . GASB Statement No . 3 4 requires the reporting of new 
infrastructure e xpenditures effective with the beginni ng o f the implementa­
t ion yea r (2002) . 

The City has elected to account for their infrastructure assets using the 
modified· approach as opposed to d epr eci ati ng t hem . See Supplement 2 f or 
further details . 

Accounts Payable , Accrued Expe nses and Long-term Obligations 
Al l payabl es , accrued liabi l i t ies and long-term obligat i ons are reported in 

the Ci ty- wide f i nancial statements , and all payables , accrued liabilities and 
long- term obligations payable from propri etary funds are reported on the 
proprietary fund financial statements . 

Net Position 
Net position represents t he d i fference between assets and liabili t i es . Net 

pos i tion invested in capital a ssets, net of relat ed debt consists of capital 
assets , net of accumulated depr ec i ation, reduced by the outstanding balances 
of any borrowings used for the acquisition, const r uct i on, or improvement of 
t hose assets . Net posit ion is reported as restricted when there are 
limitations imposed on use eithe r through the enabling legislation adopted by 
the Ci ty or through external restrict i ons i mposed by credito r s , granters or 
laws or regulations of ot her government s . 

Operating Revenues and Expenses 
Operating r evenues and expenses consist of amounts g e nerated d irectly from 

the primary activity of the City ' s propr i etary funds . For the City, these 
sales are ambul ance se r vice charges . 

Budgets and Budgetar y Accounting 
The Budgetary Comparison Schedule for t he Gen e r a l Fund (Supplement 1) 

p r esents comparisons of legally adopted b udgets with actual data on a 
budgetary basis . This d iffers f r om t he St a t ement o f Revenues , Expenditures 
and Changes in Fund Bal ance (Exhi bit D) since accounting principles appl ied 
for purposes o f developing data on a budgetary basis differ signi f i cant ly 
from those used to present financial s tatements i n con formity with generally 
accepted accounting p rinc i ples . A reconciliat i on i s p r esented below : 
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(1) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

Fund Balance (budgetary basis) - Supplement 1 

Add : Due from other funds 

Less : Reserve activity reported as special revenue 

Fund Balance (GAAP basis ) - Exhibit C 

Fund Bal ance Classificati ons 

General Fund 

$3,070,806 

454 

(276 , 806) 

$2 , 794 , 454 

The City has i mplemented GASB No . 54 . Prior to thi s i mplementation, the 
fund balance was classified as Reserved and Unreserved, with Unreserved being 
Designated or Undesignated by City management f or intended purposes. GASB 
No . 54 requires the classificat ion to be Nonspendabl e, Restricted or 
Unrestricted . Unrestricted is then determined to be Committed, Assigned, or 
Unassigned by the City's management . The Ci ty considers expenditures that 
a r e incurred for purposes where restricted and unr estricted fund balances are 
available, to be expended in t he f o l lowing order - Restricted, Committed, 
Assigned and Unassigned . In the 20 12 fiscal year there were no unrestricted 
committed funds . 

Nonspendable Fund Balance 
Nonspendable fund balance includes amounts that cannot be spent 

because they are either not spendable in form or are contractually 
required to be maintained intact . The City r eports fuel inventory as 
nonspendable . 

Restricted Fund Balance 
Restricted fund balance includes amounts that can only be used for 

specific purposes and includes grand funds and certain donations . 

Unrestricted Assigned Fund Balance 
Unrestricted ass i gned f und balance includes amounts assigned by the 

authority of the City Council for which they intend to use them for 
specific purposes . Any ass ignments held open for three year s wit hout 
activity is closed in unrestricted unassigned fund balance . 

Unrestricted Unassigned Fund Balance 
The r emaining fund balance t hat is not restricted, committed or 

assigned is considered unassigned . These funds are spendable funds in 
the ordinary course of gover nment operations . 

Estimates 
The p r eparat i on of financi al statements i n conformity with generally 

accepted accounting principles requi res management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and disclosures. 
Accordingly, actual r esul ts could differ from t hose estimates . 

Compensated Absences 
City employees are entitled to certain compensated absences based on their 

length of empl oyment and t heir department ' s individual contract negotiated 
with the City . Administration and all other employees not under a depart­
mental contract receive twelve days sick leave per year and one to five weeks 
of vacation depending on the number of years of service . Unused vacation and 
sick pay are accumulated at the employee ' s current rate of pay and is 
i ncl uded as a l iability in the net position of the City-wide financial s t ate­
ments. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
DECEMBER 31 , 2012 

(2 ) CASH AND INVESTMENTS 

As of December 31, 2012 , cash and investments consisted of the following : 

Deposits with financial 
i nst itutions 

Carrying Amount 

$3,127,234 

Deposits with financial institutions are subject to custodial risk, which is 
the risk that in the event of a bank failure , the City's deposits may not be 
returned to it . The City ' s policy is to invest in regional banks and to 
insure the funds to as great a degree as possible . As of December 31 , 2012 , 
the bank balance, including the various fiduciary accounts , was $3,127,234 of 
which all was insured or collateralized . 

The above information does not include any amounts on deposit for Cary 
Medical Center or Caribou Utilities District. 

(3) NOTE RECEIVABLE - REVOLVING LOAN FUND 

The Revolving Loan Fund had a 6 . 5% note receivable in monthly installments 
of $218 pr incipal and interest through December 2017 with a balance of 
$11 , 200 as of December 31, 2012. 

(4) NOTES RECEIVABLE 

As of December 31 , 2012, the City ' s General Fund had the following notes 
receivable: 

0% Note receivable with a balloon 
payment due in 2016 . 

6 . 5% Note receivable in monthly in­
stallments of $220 principal and in­
terest through June 2013 . 

2% Note receivable in annua l in­
stallments of $7,365 principal and 
interest through December 2028 . 

$200,000 

1,905 

99 , 615 

$301 . 520 

As of December 31 , 2012, the notes receivable mature as follows : 

Year Amount 

2013 $ 7 , 274 
2014 5, 476 
2015 5,586 
2016 205,698 
2017 5,812 
2018-2022 30 , 848 
2023-2027 34 , 059 
2028 6, 767 

$301 . 520 

Notes receivable of $301,520 are with the Caribou Economic Growth Council 
which has made various loans under the same terms noted above . These notes 
are secured by the applicable notes held by the Caribou Economic Growth 
Council . 
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(5) ACTIVITIES OF THE CITY OF CARIBOU SECTION 8 HOUSING PROGRAM 

The City operates a Voucher Program which enables up to one hundred ninety­
three recipients to be granted housing assistance under the Sect ion 8 Housing 
Program but does not restrict their l iving to the Caribou area . 

The Section 8 Program has a family s elf-suffi ciency program that permits 
families to stay in the program even if their income increases . This 
increase in payments is collected by the program and deposited into an escrow 
account for the families involved to use upon their successful completion of 
the program . This money is listed as restricted cash in the balance sheet of 
the special revenue fund . 

(6) INTERFUND BALANCES 

The bala nce of $454 due to the general fund from the Section 8 Housing 
Program consists of amounts paid for operations on a reimbursement basis . 

(7) CAPITAL ASSETS 

In accordance with GASB Statement No . 34 , the City has reported all capital 
assets i ncluding infrastructure in the Government - wi de Statement of Net 
Position . The City elected to use t he "modified approach" as defined by GASB 
Statement No . 34 for infrastructure reporting . As a result, no accumulated 
depreciation or depreciation expense has been recorded for infrastructure . 
Other nondepreciable assets include land . All other capital assets were 
reported using the basic approach whereby accumulated depreciat i on and 
depreciation expense has been recorded. 

Capital asset act i vi ty for the year ended December 31 , 2012 , was as 
follows : 

Governmental Activities 
Nondepreciable : 

Land 
Construction-in- process 
Infrastructure 

Total nondepreciable 

Land improvements 
Build ings 
Vehicl es 
Equipment 

Totals at historical 
cost 

Less accumulated depreci-
at i on f or : 

Land i mprovements 
Buildings 
Vehi cles 
Equipment 

Total accumulated 
depreciation 

Government a l activities 
capital assets, net 

Beginning 
Balance Addi t i ons 

$ 498 , 100 $ 

5, 403 , 333 

5, 901 , 433 

1 , 315 , 967 
6, 086, 865 
3 , 669, 219 

836, 016 

17,809, 500 

996 , 372 
1 , 409, 349 
2 , 867 , 238 

548,775 

964 , 677 

964 , 677 

4 , 200 
356, 272 

50 , 690 

1,375 , 839 

14 ' 717 
128 , 871 
191,689 

61 , 548 

Retire­
ments/ 

Transfers 

$ 

306 , 333 
42,040 

348,373 

295,824 
42,040 

5, 821 , 734 396, 825 337,864 

$11, 987 , 766 $ 979 , 014 $ 10, 509 

Ending 
Balance 

$ 498,100 
964' 677 

5,403,333 

6, 866, llO 

1 , 315 , 967 
6,091 , 065 
3 , 719 , 158 

844 , 666 

18,836,966 

1, 011 , 089 
1,538,220 
2,763,103 

568,283 

5 , 880 , 695 

$U., 956~ 



CITY OF CARIBOU, MAINE 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
DECEMBER 31 , 2012 

(7) CAPITAL ASSETS (Continued) 

Reclassification 
Certai n amounts in the begi nning balance of land have been recl assified to 

land improvements in order to conf or m to the cur rent presentation . These 
reclassifications have no effect on the change in net position . 

Retire-
Beginning ments/ Endi ng 

Bal ance Addit i ons Transfers Balance 

Business-type Activity 
Land $ 31,600 $ $ $ 31 , 600 
Land improvements 4, 673 4,673 
Buildi ngs 186 , 792 186,792 
Vehicles 475,871 171,400 67,878 579,393 
Equipment 178,672 551 , 599 64,000 666,271 

Totals at historic.al cost 877 , 608 722 , 999 131,878 1,468,729 

Less accumulated depreci ation 
for : 

Land improvement s 4 , 673 4,673 
Bui ldings 127 , 029 3,736 130,765 
Vehicl es 212,689 61 , 114 53,479 220,324 
Equipment 81,428 66 , 231 35, 726 111, 933 

Tot al accumulated depre-
ciation 425,819 131,081 89,205 467,695 

Business-type activity capital 
assets, net $451,789 $591 , 918 $ 42 ,673 $1 , 001,034 

Depr eciation expense was charged to governmental f unct i ons as fo l lows : 

Governmental Activities 
General 
Libr ary 
Protection 
Public works 
Recreation and parks 
Other 

Business-type Activi ty 

(8) GENERAL LONG-TERM DEBT 

$ 19, 615 
6,528 

127 , 586 
114,987 

86 , 550 
41 , 559 

$396,825 

$131, 081 

As of December 31, 2012 , long- term debt cons i sted o f one 3 . 591% note 
payable in semi- annual payments ranging from $44,205 to $61,565 principal and 
interest through June 2025 . 



CITY OF CARIBOU, MAINE 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont inued) 
DECEMBER 31, 2012 

(8) GENERAL LONG- TERM DEBT (Continued) 

As of December 3 1 , 2012 , long- term obligations mature as follows: 

Fiscal 
Year 

2013 (included in current 
liabilities) 

2014 
2015 
2016 
2017 
2018-2022 
2023- 2025 

Principal 

$ 44 , 320 
54,954 
59,895 
65,129 
70,671 

448,358 
242,94 1 

$986,268 

Interest 

$ 44,090 
33,336 
31,319 
29,121 
26,733 
90,356 
11, 61 7 

$266, 572 

Long-term debt activity during t he year ended December 31, 2012, was as 
follows : 

Balance 
January 
1, 2012 

$==== 

Additions 

$986, 268 

(9) EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT PLANS 

Reduc­
tions 

$=== 

Maine Public Employees Retirement System (MainePERS) 

Bal ance 
December 
31 , 2012 

$986,268 

Due Within 
One Year 

$44,320 

Some empl oyees of participat ing local government units are eligible to 
participate in the City 's defined benefit p l an provided by the Maine Publ ic 
Empl oyees Re t irement System (MainePERS). Approximately $1,038,00 0 or 31% o f 
the payrol l of the City qualified for this plan for the year ended December 
31, 2012. 

Participants contribute between 6 .5% and 7.65% o f their wages to the p l an . 
The State also contribut es to fund future retirement benefits. All other 
employees are covered by the Social Security System. 

Employees covered under this plan become vested after ten years of service . 
The calculation of benefits is based on the highest three years of earnings 
that the empl oyee earned under the plan . 

Complete information concerning the City' s f unding of the p l an and obl i ga­
tion is available a t the MainePERS office in Augusta. 

Defined Contribut i on Plan 
The City has established for i ts employees a voluntary deferred compensa­

tion plan in accordance with Internal Revenue Code Section 457 . The plan 
permits empl oyees to defer a portion of their salaries until future years . 
The City will match employee contributions up to 3 . 5% of their wages . The 
empl oyer contribution f or t he year ended December 31, 2012 was approximate l y 
$7 0 , 000 . 

(10} JOINT VENTURE - TRI-COMMUNITY RECYCLING AND SANITARY LANDFILL 

The Tri-Communi ty Recycling and Sanitary Landfill is owned j ointly by t he 
City of Caribou and the Towns of Fort Fairfield and Li mestone. The Board of 
Directors consists o f four members residing in the three communities; two 
from the City of Caribou and one from each of the other communities . 



CITY OF CARIBOU, MAINE 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
DECEMBER 31, 2012 

(10) JOINT VENTURE - TRI-COMMUNITY RECYCLING AND SANITARY LANDFILL (Continued) 

Financial statements for this joint venture were issued and reported on by 
us in a separate report dated March 1 , 2013 . These financial statements 
are available from the City ' s Finance Department. 

A summary of the facility ' s activity for 2012, is as follows : 

Total assets 

Total liabilities 

Total net position 

Total revenue 
Less total expenditures 
Add change in accounting estimate 

Increase in net position 

Amount 

$16,080,317 

13,092,281 

$ 2 . 988.036 

$ 2,164,166 
2 , 126,405 

452,000 

$ 

The City has guaranteed, together with the other member towns , two notes and 
a bond payable totaling $8 , 537 , 000 for the Tri- Community Recycling and 
Sanitary Landfill . As of December 31 , 2012 , the balance owed was $7,636,287 . 

The State of Maine Department of Environmental Protection requires the 
Landfill to place a final cover on its landfill once it is closed and perform 
certain maintenance and monitoring functions at the site for twenty years 
after closure. These estimated closure and post- closure care costs are being 
recognized in the financial statements referr ed to above at the rate of 
utilization of the landfill site . As of December 31, 2012, the estimated 
total cost of closure and post-closure care was approximately $18,170,000 of 
which $5,300 , 000 was recognized . The management of the landfill expects to 
use future earnings to cover the costs of closure and post-closure care . More 
information regarding t he accounting for closure and post-closure care costs 
is available in the 2012 financial statements of the Tri-Community Recycling 
and Sanitary Landfill . 

(11) TAX INCREMENT FINANCING (TIF) DISTRICT 

During March 2006, the City created the Caribou Downtown Tax Increment 
Financing District, in which the City can use 100% of tax revenue from 
incremental new assessed value of property located in the District to promote 
pri vate development . The City entered into an agreement with a developer in 
order to provide for the consolidation of a state agency . Under the terms of 
t he TIF, incremental tax revenue over the next 15 years resul ting f r om 
improvements to the developer ' s building wil l be returned to the developer . 
The revenue will then be used to reduce the state agency' s rental expense . 
The total benefit to the developer and state agency is expected to be 
approximately $410,000 over the 15-year period . 



CITY OF CARIBOU, MAINE 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont inued) 
DECEMBER 31 , 2012 

(11) TAX INCREMENT FINANCING (TIF) DISTRICT 

During September 2012 , the City created the RC-2 District to use tax 
r evenue from incremental new assessed value of property located in the 
District to promote private development . The total benefit to the developer 
is expected to be approximately $24,000 over a five-year period . Tax 
increment captured above that amount can be utilized for costs of public 
safety improvements , city-wide trails and other District improvements . 

(12) SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

Management has reviewed subsequent events through July 23, 2013, the date 
these financial statements were avai lable to be issued and determined that no 
additional adjustments or disclosures are required i n order for these 
financial statements to be fairly stated . 



CITY OF CARIBOU, MAINE 

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE FOR THE GENERAL FUND AND AMBULANCE SERVICE 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31. 2012 

General Fund 

SUPPLEMENT l 

Ambulance Service 

Budgeted Amounts Budg_eted Amounts 

REVENUES 
Local property taxes 
Homestead exemption reimbursement 
Supplemental taxes 
Abatements 
Federal assistance 
State assistance 
Fees 
Charge to towns - Caribou 

- Other 
Billing services 
Other (Schedule 1) 

TOTAL REVENUES 

EXPENDITURES 
General government 
Education 
Community development 
Chamber of Conunerce 
Health and sanitation 
Public works 
Protection 
Insurance and retirement 
Recreation 
Library 
County tax 
General assistance 
Appropriations to capital outlays 
Ambulance 
Other (Schedule 2 ) 

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES OVER 
EXPENDITURES 

OTHER SOURCES 
Transfer from ambulance fund, net 

OTHER USES 
Capital outlays in excess of 

appropriations 
Transfers to other funds 

TOTAL OTHER USES 

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN FUND BALANCE 

FUND BALANCE - JANUARY 1, 2012 

f'UNll B/\LANCE - DECEMBER 31 , 2012 

Original 

$ 7,170,185 
212,574 

1,000 
(25,000) 
58,119 

914 ,151 

2,174,470 

10 , 505,499 

620,616 
3,213,918 

89, 764 
98, 277 

279,646 
2,155 , 736 
2 , 140 ,261 

424,885 
681, 198 
298, 041 
364, 644 

63,509 
19,500 

574 ,412 

11 ,024,4 07 

(518,908) 

499,490 

(19, 418 ) 

$ (19, 41 8) 

final 

$ 7,170,185 
212 , 574 

1,000 
(25, 000) 
58 ,119 

890 ,351 

2, 184, 470 

10,491,699 

620,616 
3,213,918 

89, 764 
98, 277 

269,547 
2,155,736 
2 , 140,2 61 

424,885 
681 , 198 
298 , 041 
364,644 

63,509 
19,500 

574,412 

11,014,308 

(522,609) 

535,926 

13,317 

$ 13 ,317 

Actual 
Budgetary Basis 

s 7,202,884 
212,574 

79,103 
(26, 965) 
56, 814 

861,832 

2,168,128 

10 , 554,370 

617 , 785 
3,213,918 

84 , 857 
95,861 

269,528 
2, 146, 041 
2,126,332 

425,570 
664,498 
291 ,7 67 
364 , 64 4 
49,913 
19,500 

549,412 

10,919,626 

(365 ,256) 

221,780 

439,142 

439, 142 

(582,618) 

3,653,424 

$ 3, 070, 806 

$ 

Original 

1,797,301 
88,032 

111, 101 
48,600 
15,000 

2,060,034 

1, 560, 544 

1, 560, 544 

499,490 

499,490 

$ 499, 490 

s 

.Ei.nli 

1,797, 301 
88, 032 

111,101 
48,600 
15 , 000 

2,060,034 

1,524,108 

1,524,108 

535 , 926 

535,926 

s 535,926 

Actual 
Budgetary Basis 

$ 

$ 

1 , 747, 487 
88,032 

138,630 
49, 077 
12,570 

2, 035, 796 

1, 814,016 

1, 814,016 

221,780 

221,78 0 

221,780 



CITY OF CARIBOU, MAINE 
SUPPLEMENT 2 

MODIFIED APPROACH FOR CITY CAPITAL ASSETS 
DECEMBER 31, 2012 

In accordance with GASB Statement No. 34 , the City is required to account for and 
report infrastructure capi tal assets . The City deve l oped an implementat i on to 
determine the value of and included infrastructure cost in 2006 . 

The City has elected to account for their infrastructure assets using the 
modified approach as opposed to depreciating them . GASB No. 34 does not require 
municipalities to depreciate infrastructure if they can provide the following : 

An asset management system employed that : 

- Has an up- to-date invent ory of eligible infrastructure assets 

- Performs condition assessments of the assets and summarizes the 
results using a "measurable scale" 

- · Estimates, on an annual basis, the annual amount needed to "ma i ntain 
and preserve the eligible infrastructure assets at the condition 
level established and discl osed by the government" 

The City documents that the eligible infrastructure assets are being "preserved 
approximately at (or above) a condition l evel established and disclosed by the 
government". 

Condition 

Good 
Fa ir 
Poor 
Substandard 

Rating 

100-80 
79-65 
64 - 50 
49-0 

Asset Management 
System Rating 

1 
2 
3 
4 

The City established a condition l evel of 70% which is a 2 rating . The 
assessment itself may be made either by the governmental enti ty directly or by 
external parties. The condition assessment may be performed annually or on a 
cyclical bas i s. A condition assessment will be performed every 3 years commencing 
in 2006 . As of December 31 , 2012 , the City' s street and sidewal k systems were 
rated at an index of 85 and 74, respectively . The detail of the condition 
assessments are as fo l lows : 

% of % of Asset Management 
Condition Roads Sidewalks System Rating 

Good 71% 36% 1 
Fair 26% 53% 2 

Poor to Substandard 3% 11% 3 and 4 

As of December 31, 2012, the City had 10 , 317 , 822 square feet of roads with a 
historical cost of $5,159,583 . As o f December 31, 2012, the City had 109,189 
square feet of sidewalks with a historical cost of $243,750 . 

All expenditures related to infrastruct ure mai ntenance will be recogni zed as a 
current expense since they are not depreciated . Expenditures relating to 
infrastructure that are capital in nature (addi tions and improvements) will be 
capitalized as part of the infrastructure asset s because they increase the capacity 
or eff iciency of t he related i nfrastructure asset . 

The City had estimated expenditures of $440,807 to maintain infrastructure at t he 
desired condition level. Actual expenditures for the year ended December 31 , 2012 
were $446 , 721. 



CITY OF CARIBOU, MAINE 

SCHEDULE OF OTHER REVENUES - GENERAL FUND 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 , 2012 

Exci se taxes 
Interest on depos i ts 
City clerk ' s fees 
Fire protection, other towns 
Po l ice dispatchi ng 
Payments in l ieu o f taxes 
Income from City-owned property 
Section 8 Housing Program Administration 
Department of Transportati on - Road Funds 
Interest on delinquent t axes 
Cable TV franchi se 
Interest on notes receivable 
Li en col lection fees 
Cari bou Chamber of Commerce 
Miscellaneous 

Other revenues - budgetary (Supplement 1) 

Adjust ments to modified accrual 

Other revenues - modified accrual (Exhibit D) 

Budget 

$1 , 180,000 
6 , 300 

32,500 
107,984 

7 , 442 
44 ,000 
66 , 200 
82 , 000 

159, 164 
50 , 500 
62,400 

2 , 500 
12 , 000 
67 , 750 

303,730 

$2 ,184 , 470 

Actual 

$ 1, 199, 933 
4 I 964 

33,579 
99,35 1 
6,090 

59,023 
94,007 
80,720 

153,122 
41 , 175 
60,641 
2,276 

11, 035 
49,694 

272, 5 1 8 

2 , 168, 128 

96,145 

$2 , 264,273 

SCHEDULE 1 

Variance 
Favorable 

(Unfavorable) 

$ 19, 933 
(1, 336) 
1, 079 

(8, 633 ) 
(1,352) 
15,023 
27,807 
(1,280) 
(6,042) 
(9,325) 
(1,759) 

(224) 
(965) 

(18 , 056) 
(31 ,212) 

$ (16 , 342) 



CITY OF CARIBOU, MAINE 

SCHEDULE OF OTHER EXPENDITURES - GENERAL FUND 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 , 2012 

Municipal building 
Tax assessment office 
Code enforcement off ice 
Nylander Museum 
Airport 
Cemeteries 
Trailer Park 
Contributions 
Tax increment financing 
Unclassified 

Other expenditures - budgetary (Supplement 1) 

Adjustments to modified accrual 

Budget 

$ 74 , 133 
183 , 584 
110 , 24 7 

29 , 478 
51 ,199 
5,800 

16,030 
64 I 991 
26 , 030 
12,920 

$574,412 

Other expenditures - modified accrua l (Exhibit D) 

Actual 

$ 74,288 
181,771 
106,328 

24,875 
41 , 7 67 
5 ,800 

16,030 
61 ,539 
26,030 
10,984 

549 ,412 

218,554 

$767,966 

SCHEDULE 2 

Variance 
Favorable 

(Unfavorable) 

$ (155) 
1,813 
3,919 
4,603 
9,432 

3,452 

1,936 

$ 25,000 



CITY OF CARIBOU, MAINE 
SCHEDULE 3a 

SCHEDULE OF CAPITAL OUTLAYS - GENERAL FUND 
FQR THE YEAR ENPEP PECEMBEB 31 . 2012 

Balances Appropri- Grants/ Total Expendi- Balances 
January 1 ~ Transfers ~ Available ~ Qecernber 31 

Community Pool I mprovements $ 7,656 $ 2,000 $ - $ - $ 9,656 $ - $ 9, 656 
Nylander Museum 12,661 - - - 12,661 - 12 , 661 
Library Roofing - 16,500 92, 182 - 108,682 3,420 105, 262 
Library Memorial Fund 25,402 - - 11, 627 37 , 029 9,968 27,061 
Library Computer Reserve 3,073 900 - - 3,973 700 3, 273 
Chamber Reserve 55 , 916 - - - 55 ,916 4,200 51 , 716 
Police Department Donated Funds 24 , 256 - - 5, 562 29,818 - 29, 818 
Police Department Equipment 7 , 118 6, 000 - 26, 620 39,738 11, 865 27 , 873 
Recreation Center Improvements 30,32 9 5 , 000 - 6, 733 42 , 062 17 ,065 24,997 
Land Acquisitions 39,590 - - - 39,590 - 39, 590 
Rails to Trails Program 21,1 55 - - 37,245 58,400 51 ,607 6, 793 
Grimes Mill Road Engineering 14, 577 - - - 14,577 14, 577 
Grimes Mill Road Construction 139,425 - - - 139,425 24 , 354 115,071 
Park Improvement Reserve 66,746 - ( 20, 690) - 4 6, 056 9,820 36,236 
Property Assessment 74,855 45,467 - - 120 ,322 209 , 014 (88,692) 
Fire Equipment Reser ve 220, 733 55,000 - 2,145 277 , 878 - 277, 878 
Fir e Hose Reserve 569 1, 000 - 488 2,057 1,420 637 
Fire Station Foam Reserve 2,943 400 - - 3,343 - 3,34 3 
Fire Training Building Reserve 6, 627 - - - 6, 627 - 6,627 
PW Equipment Reserve 125,581 56,300 - - 181,881 39,669 14 2, 212 
Police Car Reserve 21,619 18 , 000 - 10,233 49,852 31 , 309 18,543 
Let ' s Move - - - 858 858 1, 473 (615 ) 
Recreation/Parks Computer Reserve (600) - - - (600) - (600) 
Rec . Nonapprop . Spec . Projects 5,509 - - 1, 400 6,909 2 ,475 4,4 34 
Recreation Equipment Reserve 24 , 926 7,500 - - 32,426 20,000 12,426 
Recr eation Lawn Mower Reserve 16, 062 1, 800 - - 17 , 862 - 17,862 
Trail Maintenance Reserve 22, 289 - - - 22 , 289 20,492 1, 797 
Hockey Boards Maintenance 458 - - - 458 - 458 
Recr eation - Collins Pond 19,24 1 - - - 19,241 - 19, 241 
Creative Playground Reserve 171 - - - 171 - 171 
Trail Groomer Reserve 119, 839 10, 000 - - 129,839 - 129,839 
Caribou Community Band 1,482 - - - 1,482 234 1, 248 
Recreation Van Reser ve 15,897 - - - 15, 897 311 15,586 
Community Development Match 31 , 831 - - - 31,8 31 - 31,831 
Airport Reserve 4, 390 5 , 000 366,043 - 375,433 214,253 161,180 
Septic System Replacement (4 65) - 465 
Str eets/Roads Drainage 304 , 904 60,000 (175, 000) - 189 , 904 65,649 124,255 
Curbing Reserve 5,178 - - - 5,178 - 5, 178 
Fuel Tank Reserve 45,523 - - 10,969 56, 492 5, 520 50,972 
Fire Department Furnace - 12, 000 - - 12,000 - 12,000 
Planning/Engineering Reserve 8, 814 - - - 8,814 2,573 6, 241 
MMF/CUD Digester 28,876 - (28 , 876) 
Airport/Weather Bureau Reserve 946 - - - 946 - 946 
Computer Reserve 10,052 10 , 000 - - 20 , 052 23 , 433 (3, 381) 
Comprehensive Pl an (1, 679 ) - - - ( l, 679) - ( 1, 679) 
Municipal Building Reserve 36,322 5,000 - - 41,322 916 40,40 6 
Preregistration Arts & Crafts 5,522 - - - 5,522 5 ,522 
Parking Lot Maintenance Reserve 16, 793 2, 000 - - 18,793 - 18,793 
Industrial Park Improvements 12, 441 - - - 12,441 - 12, 441 

1 ,635,553 319,867 234,124 l_U,8_80 2 ,303,424 791 , 839 1, 511, 585 



CITY OF CARIBOU, MAINE 
SCHEDULE 3b 

SCHEDULE OF CAPITAL OUTLAYS - GENERAL FUND (Continued) 
£OR THE YEAR ENDED QECEMBER 31 . 2012 

Balances Appropri- Grants/ Total Expendi- Balances 
ilanua_t-.,,___i ~ Transfers Other Available .t.l.tll..1 December 31 

Public Works Paint Booth 9,351 - - - 9,351 - 9,351 
CDC Economic Development 240,000 - - - 240, 000 - 240, 000 
Plymouth Waste Oil Loan 63,306 - (63, 306) 
Trailer Park Reserve 4,241 - - 8, 006 12,247 - 12, 247 
Caribou Housing Reserve 52,919 - - 14,319 67,238 1,868 65, 370 
Civic Beautification Reserve 1,4 26 5 , 000 - - 6, 426 4, 660 1, 766 
Lions Community Center Reserve 1,784 - - - 1,784 - 1,784 
Community Gateway Grant 79 - (79) 
Ambulance Small Equipment 10 , 883 - - 27, 750 38,633 27,892 10,741 
Ambulance/Fire EDP Reserve 2, 719 300 700 - 3, 719 - 3, 719 
Aerial Photography 2 , 700 - - - 2,700 - 2, 700 
Library Handicapped (419) - 419 
Airport Improvements (12,344) 5, 000 265,189 - 257,845 257 , 290 555 
EMA Equipment Reserve 2, 012 - - - 2, 012 - 2,012 
Nylander Donations 2, 000 - - - 2, 000 - 2, 000 
Caribou Community Wellness 25,090 - (25, 090) 
Library Bathroom Renovations 268 - (268) 
Trails Grant (4, 366) - - - (4, 366) - (4, 366) 
Welcome to Caribou Signs ( 400) - 400 
Homeland Security 2 , 279 - - - 2, 279 - 2, 279 
Ski Rental 3, 860 - - 5,8 95 9, 755 5 , 156 4, 599 
CDBG Housing Rehabilitation 3 , 880 - - - 3, 880 - 3, 880 
Maine Military Authority 28 , 813 - - - 28 , 813 - 28 , 813 
Ambulance Stair Chairs 2, 250 - - - 2 , 250 - 2, 250 
Charter Commission (3, 422) - - - (3 , 422 ) - (3, 422) 
DEP Small Community Grant (129) - 129 
Wellness Construction (1 , 500) - 1,184 - (316) - (316) 
TIF 105 , 813 - - 25,051 130,864 20, 242 110, 622 
Cadet Reserve 1,4 58 - - 500 1,958 1, 040 918 
Downtown Infrastructure 3, 508 1, 500 - - 5,008 565 4, 443 
Debt Service (23, 906) - 23,906 
Fire Department Kitchen Remodel (388) - 388 
Police Garage Roof Repair 556 - (556) 
Police Camera System (91) - 91 
Christmas Lights 5, 766 4,000 - - 9, 766 5, 988 3,778 
Fire Dispatch Model 700 - - - 700 - 700 
Tax Acquired Property Remediation 4, 200 - - 1, 224 5 ,4 24 105 5, 319 
Boat Launch (20, 690) - 20,690 
RSU 39 Commitment (874 , 841) 3, 213, 918 - - 2,339 , 077 3 , 213 , 919 (674,842 ) 
EECBG Program (8 , 063) - 8, 063 

Subtotal (368, 698) 3, 229, 718 231 , 860 82 , 745 3,175 , 625 3 , 538 , 725 (363 , 100) 

Subtotal Schedule 3a 1 , 635, 553 319 , 867 234 , 124 113, 880 2,303 , 424 791 , 839 1, 511 , 585 

TOTAL $ 1, 266, 855 u. ~_!il ._~05_ $ 465,984 $196, 625 $5, 479 , 049 $4,330,564 $1 , 148 , 485 



Compensated Absences 
Revolving Loan Fund - Cash 
Revolving Loan Fund - Loans Receivable 
City Retirement 
Police Underage Drinking Grant 
Retirement Reserves 
Fire/Ambulance Overtime 
HRA Contribution Reserve 
Community Bulletin Board 

CITY OF CARIBOU , MAINE 

SCHEDULE OF NON-CAPITAL OUTLAYS - GENERAL FUND 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED QECEMBER 31 . 2012 

Balances Appropri-
January l ~ Transfers Other 

$156,340 $ - $25,000 $ -
315,627 - - 12,862 
114 , 573 - - -

1,080 - - -
(2,648) - 2,648 
4,139 - - -
2 , 679 - (2 , 679) 

22,312 - - 18, 600 
120 - - 40 

$614, 222 $ - $24 ,969 $31 , 502 

SCHEDULE 4 

Total Expendi- Balances 
Available ~ December 31 

$181,34 0 $ 66,069 $ 115, 271 
328 ,489 328,489 
lH,573 12, 670 101,903 

1, 080 1, 080 
-

4,139 4,139 
- -

40,912 22, 071 18, 841 
160 - 160 ---

$670,693 $100,810 $ 569 , 883 



~ 
Cash 
Note receivable (Note 5) 

LIABILITIES ANQ FUNQ BALANCE 

LIABILITIES 

FUND BALANCE 

CITY OF CARIBOU, MAINE 

BALANCE SHEET 
FOR ALL SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS 

DECEMBER 31. ~ 

Grimes 
Mill Road 

$115, 071 

$115, 071 

$ -

115, 071 

$115, 071 

Revolving 
Loan Fund 

llQ 

$210,766 
11, 200 

$221,966 

$ -

221,966 

$221,966 

SCHEDULE 5 

Total 
Airport Drink Special 

Improvement Grant EEC BG Revenue 
Program Personnel Program ~ 

$ 161,735 $ 5,359 $ - $492,931 
- - - __ 11,200 --

$161 , 735 LJ,)~~ $ - $504, 131 -
$ - $ - $ - _s_ 

161,735 5,359 - 504,131 --
$ 161,735 $ 5, 359 L...:. $504 , 131 



REVENUES 
Grants - Federal 

- State 
Interest income 

Total Revenues 

EXPENDITURES 
Program expenditures 
Construction and improvements 

EXCESS OF REVENUES OVER EXPENDI TURES 
(EXPENDITURES OVER REVENUES ) 

OTHER SOURCES 
Transfer from general fund 

CITY OF CARIBOU, MAINE 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE 
FOR ALL SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 , 2012 

Revolving Airport 
Grimes Loan Fund Improvement 

MHl__RQa_d llQ Program 

$ - $ - $ 452,487 
- - 3, 745 
- 1,991 -

- 1,991 456, 232 

- - -
38,931 - 471,543 

~931 - 471 , 543 

(38 , 931) 1,991 (15,311 ) 

- - 185,000 

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN FUND BALANCE (38, 931) 1,991 169,689 

FUND BALANCE - JANUARY 1 154,002 219, 975 (7, 954) 

FUND BALANCE - DECEMBER 31 $115, 071 $221,966 $ 161, 735 

SCHEDULE 6 

Total 
Drink Special 
Grant EEC BG Revenue 

Personnel Program ~ 

$ - $ - $452,487 
57,216 - 60,961 

- - 1,991 

57,216 - 515,439 

61,649 - 61, 64 9 
- - 510,474 

61,649 - 572,123 

(4 , 433) - (56 ,684) 

9,792 8,063 202,855 

5,359 8 , 063 146,171 

- (8,063) 357,960 

$ 5,359 $ - $504 , 131 



CITY OF CARIBOU, MAINE 
SCHEDULE 7 

SCHEDULE OF PROPERTY TAXES - GENERAL FUND 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 , 2012 

2013 2012 2011 Taxes Prior 
Tu.t.tl Taxes ~ and Liens ~ 

UNCOLLECTED AT 
JANUARY 1 $ 762 , 817 $ $ (11 , 333) $578 , 667 $195 ,4 83 

2012 COMMITMENT 
($371 , 512 , 200 @. 0193) 7 , 170 , 186 7 I 170 , 186 

SUPPLEMENTAL TAX 79 , 103 79 ,103 

7 , 249 , 289 7,24 9, 289 

COLLECTIONS 7 ,060 , 026 25 , 499 6, 511 , 983 442, 186 80 , 358 
TAX-ACQUIRED PROPERTY 37 , 142 13 , 923 12,345 10 , 874 
ABATEMENTS 26, 965 26 , 430 535 

7,124 , 133 25 ,4 99 6, 552 , 336 455 , 066 91 , 232 

UNCOLLECTED AT 
DECEMBER 31 $ 887 , 973 $(25 , 499) $ 685 , 620 $123 , 601 $104 , 251 

REPRESENTED BY 
Real Estate Taxes $ 802,269 $(25 ,4 34) $ 641 , 756 $110, 562 $ 75 , 385 
Personal Property Taxes 85 , 704 (65) 43 , 864 13 , 039 28 , 866 

$ 887 , 973 $(25 ,499 ) $ 685 , 620 $123 , 601 $104,251 



FELCH & COMPANY, LLC 
C:.11ifid ~ di=unJAJib 

P.O. BOX 906 

CARIBOU, MAINE 04736 

(207> 498-3176 

FAX(207) 498-6278 

E-MAIL. CPA@FELCHCPA.COM 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS ' REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER 
FINANCIAL REPORT I NG AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS 
BASED ON AN AUDI T OF FINANCI AL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN 

ACCORDANCE WITH GOVER"NMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

To the City Counc i l of the 
Ci ty of Caribou, Maine 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing s t andards generall y accepted in 
the United St ate s of America and t he standards applicable to financial audits 
contained i n Government Auditing Standar ds issued by the Comptroller General of the 
United States, t he financial statements o f t he governmental act i vi ties, the 
busi ness-type activity, each major fund, and the aggr egate remaining fund 
inf ormat ion of t he City of Caribou, Ma i ne as of and for the year ended December 31 , 
2012 , and the related notes to the financial statements, which col l ectively 
comprise the City ' s basic financi a l s t atements , and have issued our report thereon 
dated July 23 , 2013 . 

I nternal Control Over Financial Reporting 
In planning and performing our audit , we conside red the City of Caribou , Ma i ne's 
internal control over financial reporting (internal cont rol ) to determine the audit 
procedures t hat are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing 
our opinions on t he f inanci a l statements , but not for the purpose of e xpressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness o f t he City of Caribou, Maine ' s internal control . 
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of t he City of 
Caribou, Maine's i nternal control . 

A de f iciency i n inter nal cont ro l exis t s when the design or operation of a control 
does not allow management or empl oyees , i n the normal course of performing their 
assigned functions , to prevent, or detect and correct misstatements on a t i me l y 
bas i s . A material wea kness is a de ficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in 
internal control such that there is a reasonabl e poss i bility that a material 
mi sst a t ement of the ent i ty' s financial statements will not be prevented, or 
detected and corrected on a timely basis . A significant defi ciency is a 
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies , i n internal control that is l ess 
severe t han a mat eri al wea kness , yet i mportant enough to merit attention by those 
charged with governance . 

Our consideration of internal control was for the l i mi ted pur pose described in the 
first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify a l l deficiencies 
in internal control that mi ght be mat e rial weaknesses or, significant def i ciencies . 
Given these limitations , during our audit we di d not identify any deficiencies in 
i nter nal control that we consider to be materia l weaknesses . However, material 
weaknesses may exist that have not been identifi ed . 
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To the City Council of the 
City of Caribou, Maine 

Compliance and Other Matters 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City of Caribou, 
Maine ' s financial statements are free o f material misstatement, we performed tests 
of its compliance with certai n provisions of laws, regulations , contracts and grant 
agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the 
determination of financial statement amounts . However, providing an opinion on 
compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit and, 
accordingly, we do not express such an opinion . The results of our tests disclosed 
no instances of noncompliance or other matters t hat are r equired to be reported 
under Government Auditing Standards . 

Purpose of this Report 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of 
internal control and compl i ance and the results o f that testing, and not to provide 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity' s internal control or on compliance . 
This report is an i ntegral part of an audit pe r formed in accordance with Government 
Auditing Standards in considering the entity's internal control and compliance . 
Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose . 

Caribou, Maine 
July 23 , 2013 
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FELCH & COMPANY, LLC 
&~tifa£J Y:.ul'rl.ic ,_lf~<.'wit.uzti 

P.O. BOX 906 

CARIBOU. MAINE 04736 

(207) 498·3176 

FAX 12071 498·6278 

E·MAIL: CPA@FELCHCPA.COM 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS ' REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH 
MAJOR PROGRAM AND ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER 
COMPLIANCE REQUIRED BY OMB CIRCULAR A- 133 

To the City Council of the 
City of Caribou, Maine 

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program 
We have audited the City of Caribou, Maine's compliance with the types of 
compliance requirements described in the OMB Circula r A- 133 Compliance Supplement 
that could have a direct and material effect on each of the City ' s major federal 
programs for the year ended December 31 , 2012. The City of Caribou, Maine's major 
federal programs are identified in the summary of audi tors' results section of the 
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs . 

Management ' s Responsibility 
Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements of laws , 
regulations , contracts , and grants applicable to its federal programs . 

Auditors ' Responsibility 
Our responsibili ty is to express an opinion on compliance for each of City of 
Caribou, Maine ' s major federal programs based on our audit of the types of 
compliance requirements referred to above . We conducted our audit of compliance in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Audi ting Standards , issued by the Comptroller General of the United States ; and OMB 
Circular A- 133, Audits of States, Local Governments , and Non-Profit Organizations . 
Those standards and OMB Circular A-133 require that we p l an and perform the audit 
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of 
compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material 
effect on a major federal progr am occurred . An audit includes examining, on a test 
basis, evidence about City of Caribou, Maine ' s compl i ance with those requirements 
and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the 
circumstances . 

We believe that our audit provi des a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance 
for each major federal program . However , our audit does not provide a legal 
determination on the City's compliance with those requirements . 

Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 
In our opinion, the City of Caribou, Maine complied, in all material r espects, with 
t he compliance requirements r e ferred to above that could have a direct and material 
effect on each o f its major federal programs for the year ended December 31 , 2012 . 
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To the City Counci l of the 
City of Caribou, Maine 

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 
Management of the City of Caribou, Maine is responsible for establishi ng and 
maintaining effecti ve internal control over compliance with the types of compliance 
r equirements refer r ed to above . In planning and performing our audit of 
compliance, we cons idered the City ' s inte rnal control over compliance with the 
types of requirements that could have a direct and material effect on each major 
federal program to determine the auditing procedures that a r e appropriate in the 
circumstances for the purpose of express ing our opinion on compliance for each 
major program and t o test and report on internal control ove r compliance in 
accordance with OMB Circular A- 133, but not for t he purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effect i veness of internal control over compli ance . Accordingly, we 
do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City' s internal control over 
compliance . 

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or 
operation of a contr ol does not allow management or employees, in the normal course 
of performing their assigned functions, to prevent or detect and correct , 
noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program on a 
timely bas i s . A material wea kness in i nternal control over compliance is a 
defici ency , or combination of deficiencies, i n inte r nal cont r ol over compliance , 
such that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type 
of compliance requirement of a federal pr ogram will not be prevented, or detected 
and corr ected, on a timely basis . A significant deficiency in internal control 
over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies , in internal 
control over compl i ance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program 
that is less severe than a mate r ial wea kness i n internal control over compliance , 
yet impor tant enough to merit attention by those charged wi th governance . 

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose 
described i n the fi r st paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify 
all defici encies in internal control ove r compl i ance that might be mater ial 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies . We did not identify any deficiencies in 
internal control ove r compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses . 
However , material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified . 

The purpose of this r eport on internal control over compliance is solely to 
describe the scope of our testing of int ernal control ove r compliance a nd the 
results of that testing based on the r equirements of OMB Cir cular A- 133 . 
Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose . 

Caribou, Maine 
July 23 , 2013 
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CITY OF CARIBOU, MAINE 

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 , 2012 

SECTION I - SUMMARY OF AUDITORS ' RESULTS 

Financial Statements 

Type of auditor s' report issued : qualified 

Internal control over financial reporting : 

Material weakness(es) identified? 

Significant deficiencies identified 
that are not considered to be material 
weaknesses? 

Noncompliance material to financial 
statements noted? 

Federal Awards 

Internal control over major programs : 

Material weakness(es) identified? 

Significant deficiencies identified 
that are not considered to be material 
weakness(es)? 

__ yes 

yes 

yes 

__ yes 

yes 

X no 

X none reported 

X no 

X no 

X none reported 

Type of auditors ' report issued on compliance for major programs: unqualified 

Any audit findings disclosed that are 
required to be reported in accordance 
with section SlO(a) of Circular A-133? 

Identification of major programs : 

Department of Housing and Urban Development 

Section 8 Housing Choice Voucher Program 
Airport Impr ovement Program 

Dollar threshold used to dis t inguish 
between type A and type B programs : 

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? 

SECTION II - FI NDINGS - FINANCIAL STATEMENT AUDIT 

No matters were reported . 

__ yes 

CFDA #14 . 871 
CFDA #20 . 106 

$300,000 

__ yes 

SECTION III - FEDERAL AWARD FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

No matters were reported . 
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CITY OF CARIBOU, MAINE 

SCHEDULE or EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS 
FOR THE XE8R ENDED DECEMBER 31. 2012 

Federal Granter/ 
Pass-through Granter/ 
Program Title 

U. S. Department of Housing and Urban Development 

* Direct Awa rd - Section 8 Housing Choice Vouchers 

Subtotal. - U.S . Department of Houainq and Urban Deve.l.opaent 

U;S, Depar t menk of Transportation 

• Direct Award - Airpor t Improvement Program 

Passed through the State o f Maine Department of Conservation 
Recreational Trails Program 

Subtotal. - U.S. Department of Tranaportation 

U.S. Department of Homel and Security 
Passed through State ·of Maine Depart ment of Emergency Management 

Homeland Security Grant Programs 
Grimes Mill Road Construction 

Subtotal. - U.S . O.part:aent of Hoaeland Security 

U.S. Department of Justice 
Enforcing Underage Drinking Laws Program 
Public Safety Partner ship and Community Policing Grants 

Subtotal. - U.S . O.partaent of J\latice 

Total 

• Tested as major program 

Federal 
CFDA 

lil.l.m!2fil'. 

14 I 671 

20 . 106 

20 .219 

97.067 
97.036 

16. 727 
16. 710 
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Pass-
through 

Grantor 's 
lil.unbil Receiots Disl;mrsernents 

N/A $ 968 , 929 $ 978, 536 

968,929 978,536 

N/A 452 , 487 452, 487 

N/A 19, 817 19,817 

472, 304 472, 304 

N/A 11 ,733 11,733 
N/A ---- 38, 931 

11, 733 50,664 

N/A 7,971 3,944 
N/A 59, 246 59, 24 6 

67 ,217 63,190 

$ 1, 520, 183 $ 1,564,694 



CITY OF CARIBOU, MAINE 

NOTES TO THE SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 , 2012 

NOTE A - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards includes the 
federal grant activity of the City of Caribou, Maine and is presented on 
the modified accrual basis of accounting . The information i n this 
schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements of OMB Circular 
A- 133, Audits of States, Local Governments , and Non-Profit Organi zations . 
Therefore , some amounts presented in the schedule may differ from amounts 
presented in, or used in the preparation , of the basic financial 
statements . 

NOTE B - BASIS OF PRESENTATION 

Reporting Entity 
The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards presents the 

activity of federa l financial assistance programs administered by the 
City, an entity as defined in the notes to the financial statements . 

Pass- Through Programs 
Where the City receives funds from a government entity other t han the 

federal government (pass-through) , the funds are accumulated based upon 
the Catalog of Federa l Domestic Assistance (CFDA) number advised by the 
pass-through granter . 

NOTE C - INDIRECT COSTS 

Indirect costs are included in the reported expenditures to the e xtent 
such costs are included in the federal financial reports used as the 
source for the data presented . 

NOTE D - MATCHING COSTS 

Matching costs that represent the City's share of certain program costs, 
if any , are not included in the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal 
Awards . 
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CITY OF CARIBOU, MAINE 

SCHEDULE OF PRIOR AUDIT FINDINGS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012 

There were no audit findings r eported for the year ended December 31 , 2011 that 
require follow- up in the December 31 , 2012 report . 
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